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What difference 50 years makes Upon graduation from the University of Florida in 1959 joned my father and

brother at Brown Brown in Daytona Beach one of about 65 general insurance agencies in Volusia County With

annual revenues of about $45000 Brown Brown was in the pack Having worked at Brown Brown during the

previous three summers my simple game plan was already in place solicit and sell commercial insurance accounts

and help to grow the agency more rapidly My aspirations for the future were many and ambitious probably typical

of most young people embarking on business career

About 18 months later January 1961 Over the course of the last half century the The last two years 2007 and 2008 have

huge change occurred My brother pace of change has caused many businesses been most challenging we have become an

worley resigned from Brown Brown and to falter or disappear we at Brown Brown even better operating company because of

was appointed chairman of the Florida have continued to grow and expand and our objective evaluation of every nook and

lndustnal Commission by the then Governor weve only just begun cranny of our business As we cross the cur

Ferris Bryant Worley promised to return to rent economic valley our various operating
As has been announted on July of this

the agency in years My father turned models will continue to be honed with the
year Powell Brown will officially assume the

65 and retired to his farm The agency goal of providing additional earning power
responsibilities of CEO and will commence

was sold to yours truly for $75000 with the as economic times change
serving as nonexecutive Chairman As have

understanding that when Worley returned
discussed many times in the past it is my Come July 2009 will have worked for

he would get ownership of half the stock

intent to continue to be nvolved in mergers Brown Brown for 50 years 48 as leader
and obligations on half the note Worley

and acquisitions and recruitment two very am very proud of our results and accom
ultimately moved to Atlanta to become CEO

important areas My time commitment will plishments over those years and look
of what is now large publicly owned paper

be reduced and Cici my wife of 43 years and forward to continued good results As
enterprise Rock Tenn Company

will travel more and do some other fun things look around our Company the quality of

And so the psychological gauntlet was cast like archeological digs and art collection our people and their commitment to our

down The road of life both personally and Cici and intend over period of time to Company and the Brown Brown culture

businesswise is truly marathon race for part with about 10% of our Brown Brown make me very very proud

those who so choose and we did accept shares keeping the rest in anticipation of

Lastly would call your attention to the
the challenge the future

back of this report you will see two pairs of

Early on was very focused on identifying am very proud of Powell and his growth eyes the Brown Brown cheetah and mine

those characteristics of successful people and and development at Brown Brown over ever vigilant ever committed Non Vitia

successful business organizations hoping the last 14 years Powell as CEO and Jim translates roughly to Dont Screw it Up

always to learn from others success and Henderson as COO head senior leadership
The future is before us best of luck to all

failures As very young person it seemed team of 12 other persons who have risen

to me that ultimate success in the long because of meritorious achievement and

distance road race of life depended on who live and breathe Brown Brown In

integrity of dealings careful fiscal planning my view our Company is in exactly the

no big mistakes maniacal focus and good right space at the right time with the right

physical and mental health It is amazing people to achieve results in the future that
Hyatt Brown CPCU CLU

how simple life is strict adherence to these hope will warm the cockles of our share Chairman of the Board

principles has been the cornerstone of the holders hearts Chief Exec utive Officer

wonderful record of growth in earnings and

shareholder value at Brown Brown

2008 ANNUAL REPORT



Pr

iM1I

yg4

tI

BROWN BROWN INC



9776 35

228780 Li
785.8 08

646.9

in inillioni of dollars

.I...

NET INCOME

TOTAL REVENUES PER SHARE

___________ in dollars

04 05 06 07 08 04 05 06 07 08

LE fL 11%

The expression when the tIdes go out one can teU who not wearing bathing suits has never rung so true In

2008 the economic tides were out and yet our Company proved it was wefl suitedfor the occasion We are very

pleased that we were able to grow the recurring topline revenues by 4o especially considering that same store sales

were negative 53% for the year

Never in our company history have we High quahty MA opportunities ontinue and collective wisdom has and will help us

been more proud of the exemplary perfor to present themselves through this market Although this is not an

mance of our employees The year brought casy time we will become better stronger
Our conservative capital structure will

the dual challenge of reduced rates and company as result
continue to enable us to invest in these

shrinking economy that resulted in negative MA opportunities going forward As we look forward we are in the strongest
organic growth The above and beyond

financial position and have the deepest talent

performance of our employees again made We increased our dividend to share

pool in the history of the company Our
the difference and drove favorable results holders by cents per share

balance sheet is as strong as it has ever been
against an unprecedented headwind increase We have increased our dividend

every year since 1993 placing us among Finally we roust thank Hyatt for everything he
Our longstanding acquisition program was

very elite few publicly owned firms in has done for this company We all lookforward
special bright spot for the year driving

this country to seeing how he defines retirement We
top line growth arid enabling the Company

considei it an honor to have worked with him
to sustain industryleading earnings margins

Our team of pioducers service team

members and proht center leaders Sincerely
Even with the many challenges that 2008

continues to expand their knowledge
presented we have number of important

and thus their abilities further enhancinq
accomplish merits

our ability to grow

total revenue qrew from $960M to $9/8M
We want to thank every one of our 5400 team

We continue to have the highest margins members for your contributions to the overall
.i Powell Brown ccu

of our publicly traded peer group success or Brown Brown We have all worked
President

harder in this challenging economic environ
We acquired $120M in annualized revenues

ment yet our numbers do not tell the full story
in 62 transactions 15 of which are new

We are company that is about accountabil
standalone operations

ity and responsibility celebrating success
/vi

These new acquisitions bring us number
leading by example and empowerinq people

of high quality people who will further to rise based on their personal abilities and
irm Henderson ccu

enhance our teams ability to reach the achievements Our strong common culture
Vice chairman Chief Operating Officer

next level

2008 ANNUAL SEPOSI



Th former ropoIt Life in ur ic nt than 14o Bu watching hi woik wa ad of

dturnddown prom tion th two
oj

Hy tt who on th farniy buine

Ci kn wtheclim onth co

ue Adri nshor ened

of Horid would go for th thma
on lation hi and al rn hip

hour wor day Worl graduat from

aiim of hi son Worl nd
Ic Hy rec Is would it in

Univ
ity of Florida aw chool in June

hun th it owing popul tion would be
nd is ening and ying nothinq

nd join th
ag Fiv mouth

good ft bu in to avoid borrowing

hr of th torn vu it was bout
thc plut and ov Ow up

mon Adrian built hi muly hom little

hunting fis ung and all th tuff And
hop few block down Volu Avenu

tim yin ca for ach ep It took
fJnally wa in uran rown Brown Inc Ily go undcrway

two rs befor Id rnov with hi wuf ho ons Hy tt auru hi th dc
Hyatt cor ed his doubl jor in

nd two son WorIcy nd Hyatt Th
ru

ontunue to hap he di ctuon of Brown
at rid in ur the Univ

uty
of

ru rtn wu nu ou in Lfl
Buuw uday The omp ny put pr niuum

lorudi turm hrI run only

ovOw also form MetLuf to on building Ia ion hip nd requiring

bu in in 19 mm di
ly mon tratung

op nanun uran eag ncyunth Depr ion ad tob rtof hcf bru of

hi und tandun theunter uonbo ween

era be own hun ou heir hungl in ommunuty Th mo honor
relationships in his coIl

rown Owen tI in omp ny th of on
onn tuouls Hy tt Ip Br wn Brown

The hr decad of Brown Owen
And th hort th Comp ny ep on

land th contr Ct for th Univ uty of El ruda

In uran wed mod thnan al

count bI sul edfrom Hy
tud rut cudent in ur nc Th cocnt

in growing to $6 97 in net in for

wa hung hi fath
rry out the unpl nt

rn $12 000 pr muum arly comnius

th ye 1949 in of Ii mor
of Ilectun rdu paym nt simply

5i01 Brown Brown jum fr 42000

to rnak payroll
to 0000

BROWN BROWN INC



11111

i\

81

ry 1961 Adn re ir At bou th

rn Wod appont irm th

Honda ndustnal Comm he pa qur

hm to nd fuU trne my

thor od th agency for 000 and

gave him not at 1000 inter Hyat 1hin

th Wa hat Wod going to om hack
lid ion own rd tO gin

aft two or thr ar at th pitol and
irng

ot 7961 nd ci Hyatt Brow

oinq to giv him fth not nd if the
th og ytoi $7 010 Pay nt

But And ultimat
ly in the to oft/ir promiiory

nt to Ahant nd cam ofwh
iorepictur Hyoi paId

now packginq nd rb rd manuf ur loan with 10 Inter It In 1961

in Atl nta Ro rio omp ny thePompaiiyfiadobout$ 000

an

For mor than cad the nge en
in op ring inrom

non top rown Brown Th ther and ons

had ad pt nd bu ines hriv Hy tt

go hi fir of bu in rui rr that

would uid hirri ed th omp ny thiough

extr ordin ry growth fo th nex 4/ yn fh

ny on tanti chan

2008ANNUALR potr



ID

When Hyatt Brown took the reins of Brown Brown in 961 the Company had about $61000 annuaJ

commissions To grow the agency Hyatt knew that he had to sefi one account at time servke weD
then bufid on that good reputation To do that he needed to attract top taent peope who woud work

reentessy bringing in more and more business and setting the bar for success ever higher

The Company began to attract people who For this reason the Company is committed moneymaking gene and satisfied with

would make Brown Brown more than to enhancing its employees personally being respected rather than loved Executives

small family hrm Van Massey regional professionally and financially They are held aim to hire people who are better smarter

executive vice president ofCrum Forster accountable with compensation structure and more aggressive than they are ensuring

brought strong background in property rewarding decisions that deliver higher that each generation of employees exceeds

and inland marine insurance Ken Hill vice operating profits and conversely reducing the one before Recruiting and enhancing

president and underwriting manager for bonuses for poor results outstanding employees is at the core of

Kemper Insurance Company of Florida brought Brown Browns corporate culture coined
Brown Brown doesn just look for people

expertise in casualty and workerscompensa an American Meritocracylooks for specal people Leaders must be
tion Other outstanding leaders followed

able to attract other hghquahty employees By 2003 Brown Brown had codfied its

Brown Browns emphasis on the develop and be secure enough not only to bring in culture and business standards into rigorous

ment of its employees came with the someone more taented than themselves internal training course called Brown
realization ofthis simplefact At the end of but also to understand why that is of benefit Brown UniversityLaunched with the help of

the day almost all ofthe Companys assets to themselves and the Company Mentoring Powell Brown then regional vice president

go home Unlike manufacturing operations the next generation of leaders is essential to based in Orlando the training school was

where the assets are fixed Brown Brown Brown Browns continued success designed to nurture employees to help them

relies almost completely on its employees reach the upper levels of success TodayAs the Company has evolved so has its

to create value lfthe employees dont come
its graduates are consistently top sellers at

peopleenhancing philosophy Company
back the next morning the Company has Brown Brown many earning membershipleaders are expected to be grade and
lost most of its assets

in the Companys National Sales Leaders
spawn even better leaders.They seek people

TangleBClubwho are analytical higft-energy driven by

lh National Safes Leaders Tangle Club is one of the key ways Brown Brown rewards and

ogniz Its tap producers Top sellers gain entrance to the club by generating in Retail at feast

12 00 inner new commissions and fn the Brokerage arid Programs at feastS 75000 in new

tam commissions durfng the year New members to the Tangfe Cf ub Top Guns and other

top oducers are recognized at the Companys annuaf safes meetings

BROWN BROWN INC



Execution is omnipotent HYATT BROWN
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Brown Brown itsef an

Amen on the

01
back nnuat report

0$ 41 02 n2003theCompany

obt service mark for the

phr ndexpoundedonwhat

Amencan Meritocracy means4R
ts annua report for that year

It is place where people rise

or recede based on their own

merits where hard work brings

great rewards
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Leadership arw 986 Back row reg Brewer Pete Thomas F/i/I Van Massey knie Hi/I

i-rontrowJrn Hrderon I/yatt8rown Dekcr Yoi nqrjan

IiGHT

8efore he retired from publ vice in 980 after eight years in the Florida state kgisiature fr/yart
Brovi ii

was elected Speake the House and won awards Ins Igis/otive service He used hi business experiene

to bong reforms to t/ siate pnnsion fund oio to overhaul the tote workers Of pinisation fond

Udng strategies suggested by Stkns Brown report was distributed to all profit centers service people enjoyed rising incomes Brown

Brown developed business system that to provide snapshot of operating results Brown became more profitable growing its

transformed it into an ethcient profit making and keep everyone focused revenue and its business

machine We didntjust buy into it7Hyatt
The Company gave salespeople 4000 commis Over time additional tenets evolved as the

says we bought into it and extended it
cions for new huciness and Oo for renewals business model meshed with Brown Browrs

Brown Brown reorganized to create highly while taking away company cars and limiting unique corporate culturerihe Company must

decentralized flat system Each office was expense accounts The Company introduced stay off the bleeding edge of automation It

divided into departments of business focus telemarketing to generate leads It instituted roust never have too much business concen

such as small middle and large commercial policy of not allowing any accounts receiv trated with one customer Its leaders must

personal employee benefits and bonds able over 59 days The Company beefed up its absolutely avoid making any big mistakes

Each department had accountability for profit customer service and marketing departments
By the end of the 980s Brown Brown was

and loss and all direct and indirect costs.The in order to relieve its sates force of administra
very close to its profit margin goal hovering

Company measured everything and used the tive chores so they could focus solely on
at about 25% By 992 when Brown Brown

metrics to rank every office department and selling And Brown Brown placed top
began the merger negctiations that led to its

salesperson Those with the best rankings priority on making profit by growing both
transformation into public company the 25o

were recognized arid honored monthly the top line and bottom line through superior
goal had been surpassed

Revenue and Net Income or Rev Net sales and service As result salespeople and

37141

3353 341.1

2952

239
1998

1572

114O

585 65O

ifl_L
99 00 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08

In millions oldollars

Includes ane time gain on sale ofRocklenn companystok
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Brown Brown grew steadfly through organic revenue growth and smafi acquisitions doubhng

ts revenues and profits every five years an average annual growth of at east 5% But in 1982

Brown Brown got chance to become the biggest bear in florida very quicky by buying two

insurance agencies at the same time ft was bod step for the Company and its eader Hyatt had

to personafly indemnify two4hirds of $53 million loan needed to make the deas happen

The acquisitIons of the Sonny Howard operahng structure and accounting system An mportant byproduct of Brown Browns

Agency of Fort Myers and the James which aNow dedsons to be made at the decentraHzed structure is mproved customer

Hawkins Agency ofWest Palm Beach and local level eliminating rigid rules and service Because customer service and claims

Delray Beach were successes Revenues bureaucratic interference that can slow are handled by employees in local offices

from the acquisitions outpaced debt progress and stifle new ideas closest to clients company employees have

payments making money available for vested interest in customer retention The
Each profit center employs an accounting

more acquisitions and new hires result Brown Browns customerretenton
manager to act as ts lead flnancal officer

rate consistently runs in the mid-90% rangeBrown Brown fuel for growth ts closely montonng costs and managmg

acquisitions strategy which plays an integral business at the grassroots level where The Companys decentralized structure

part in its success Many deals originate from business originates This approach leads to meshes with its philosophy of recruiting the

relationships forged during years ofgrowth better control ofexpenses and ensures that best people and constantly enhancing their

in the insurance industry The Company financial information is reported accurately leadership skills Brown Brown considers

targets only profitable wellrun agencies and promptly without duplicating the efforts its employees to be extraordinary and

that have highquality people with proven ofcorporate accounting staff Because knows they achieve outstanding results

records ofsuccess in serving customers financial reviews and decisions are made at because they are challenged empowered

the local level accounting managers can and rewarded for doing so
The key to Brown Browns history of

dentfy and react to finanoal data quickly
successful acquisitions lies in its decentralized

This glyph first appeared on rhe bock page ofthe Brown Brown 200 annual reporr The Loran caption

translates roughly into Our ass is on the line it isa reminder to Company employees that their commitment

to success should resemble the one Hyatt demonstrated when he personally backed $5.5 million loan in

nostrti rn posterious est 1982 to purchase agencies on both coasts of Florida

Ofluin ItnICu.S

12 ESROWN5ROWNINC



The only constant is change LHYATTF3ROWN

1$ic

Brown Browns success is built in large part upon

its decentralized structure which takes the form of

individual profit centers ocross the country that are

held accountable for their costs and for earnings

ie growth The profit center leaders who thrive in

this environment are rewarded for their efforts

Ji In thephotoatleft the200l ProhtCenterfeader

Divisional Office winners are recognized

fu R1Yf
2008 ANNUAL REPORT 13
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Ask anyone at Brown Brown the secret to the Companys seven decades of success and they wU give

one answer CULTURE is corporate phflosophy that combines bravado with od4ashioned business

sense Strive to do better than others and hire ony those who can surpass you Be bod but be sure

youre wiDing to de with the consequences if something seems easy its probaby wrong

The cheetah hungry for its next meat In 992 Company eaders developed whether wth feHow empoyees dients carher

the icon for Brown Browns aggressive statement to capture the essence of who partners or shareholders are the glue that

salespeople who act with speed and agility and what Brown Brown was committee binds Brown Browns culture

Company leaders eschew the vertical pronoun that included Hyatt Jim Henderson and other
The resulting statement Brown Brown

encouraging their teams to opt for the senior leaders among them Linda Downs
Is lean decentralized highly competitive

encompassingweNohody at Brown Roy Bridges CoryWalkerandTom Riley
profitoriented sales and service organization

Brown will tolerate an eggsucking dog7 an started with marker and flip chart

compnsed of people of the highest integrity
employee who hinders the Company Leaders on which they listed all the adjectives that

and quality bound together by clearly defined
even had the old Southern expression No they thoughtdescribed Brown Brown

goals and prideful relationships It is promh
eggsucking dogs translated into Latin

The brainstorming session yielded an nent in the Companys annual reports and
phrase that has become Company mantra

armload of paper and from that came framed copy of it hangs in Brown BrownNon volumus canes ovos sugere
written description of beliefs behaviors and offices throughout the country

The business wisdom Hyatt acquired through actions that had developed as the Company
Company leaders believe change is constant

the years has become Company lore Execution grew Two key segments centered on integrity
but culture survives so Brown Brown is

is omnipotentThe only constant is change and prideful relationships Without integrity
forever The Companys culture will survive

The best way is almost always the most Company leaders determined Brown Brown
for one nanosecond longer than the youngest

difficult way would lack character the essential building

person in the Company who continues to
blockofa culture And prideful relationships

believe in its culture

Brown Brown is lean decentralized highly

compettve profitoriented sales and service

organizaton compnsed of people of the highest

rntegnty and quality bound together by clearly

defined goals and prideful relatonsiups

16 BROWNBROwNINC
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The goal at Brown Brown is to bring in
ry higi qu lity op1 as fast the Company can find them people who are agile and adaptive

like cheetah Every time the Company ho am an it tn to person who is little better than the last person hired

2008 ANNUAL REPORT
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Brown Brown operates its business based on four essenta strategies and grows it by setting

farreaching goas to expand revenue and profits Its doggedly determined empoyees have met

the mark every time The Companys next milestone B4O and Beyond7 is ts most ambitious

and tantaIizngy dose Success breeds success

The first of our four essenti business 982 Brown Brown made momentous seemed an impossible efficiency 40%

strateges is that Brown Brown is the dedson to focus on growth goak inked to operating profit margin pretax income with

moneymaking business It employs its operating profit margin not just revenue interest amortization and noncash stock

formula for growth through superior sales expansion It set goal of achieving 25% based compensation added back And the

and service and smart acquisitions then operating profit margin by 1990 It hit that Company is tantalizingly close to reaching its

repeats it breeding more success mark year early $1 billion revenue goal as well

Second Brown Brown is in the people After the Brown Brown and Poe Each goal Brown Brown set over the years

recruiting and peopleenharicing business Associates merger in 1993 the Company seemed almost unattainable and yet our

The Company has built its business and established an ad infinitum goal double employees stretched to reach that goal Today

reputation on hiring and grooming top digit revenue growth every year we are on the threshold of greatness When

talent following the example set by Hyatt we reach B40 we will not be done We will
The next goal P28 set in 1999 seemed

double again new generation of leaders
Third the Company is in the insurance sales monumental challenge The nearterm

will take us to $2 billion in revenues thusand service business All business decisions objective was to hit 28% pretax profit

setting the bar ever highermust stay focused on Brown Brown core margin At the time most profit centers were

operation All growth must enhance the in the lowtomid 20% range But success In July 2009 with the approval cif the Board

Companys ability to sell insurance better bred success The first employees to reach of Directors Hyatt plans to turn the CEO reins

the 28% benchmark shared their strategies over to his son Powell and assume the role of
Finally Brown Brown is in the business of

with others By 2001 the whole Company nomexecutive Chairman Hyatt will work partmaking big mistakes Personal responsibility

had attained P28 time focusing on mergers and acquisitionsand assiduous attention to detail are woven
and recruitment the lifeblood of the Companyinto the fabric of the Company Today Brown Brown is applying its trusty

formula to B40 and Beyond That goal Every time that we go out to find someoneCompany leaders describe Brown Browns
announced in 2001 was to reach $1 billion Hyatt says we try to get person who isculture of dogged determination with

in revenue while achieving 40% operating little better and little better and little
phrase made famous by legendary Green Bay

profit margin For 2007 seven years after better and little better Because thats thePackers coach Vince Lombardi Three yards

setting sights on what is by far its most way you build an organization Ad infinitumand cloud of dust

ambitious goal the Company achieved what

18 BROWN BROWN INc
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Every time that we go out to find someone we try to get

person who is little better and little better and little

better anda little better Because thats the wayyou build

an organization

HYATT BROWN

2008
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THE RETAIL DIVISIONS
tota reveriu ncres 9% to $59O mdhon 20

The Retail Division is the foundation of Brown Brown Inc and operates through

110 profit centers in 31 states employing more than 750 licensed insurance agents Key acquisioons during 2008 ncluded
supported by experienced and knowledgeable customer service personneLThis AGA Insurance

Division offers broad range of insurance products and services to commercial Alpharetta GA

public entity professional association and individual customers We are middle HuntSmith Peabody Insurance Agency Inc

market insurance intermedianes that place for our clients insurance coverages Fenton MI

with premiums ranging from several thousand dollars to several milhon dollars LDP Consulting Group Inc

The categories of insurance principally sold by us include property insurance Lambertville NJ

relating to physical damage to property and resultant interruption of business or MEW Custom Staffing LLC

Tampa FL
extra expense caused by fire windstorm or other perils casualty insurance relating

The Benefits Departmentto legal liabilities workerscompensation and commercial and private passenger
Charlotte NC

automobile coverages and fidelity and surety bonds We also sell and service

Powers Company
group and individual life accident disability health hospitalization medical and

Rocklin CA
dental insurance

Nathan Stone Insurance Agency Inc

2008 was another tough year throughout the insurance marketplace The contin Encino CA

ued soft insurance premium rates prevailed dunng most of the year and in the DeBock Muth Insurance Agency Inc

Stockton CA
second half of the year reduced exposure units due to weakening economy

became more prevalent Each of our offices has met these challenges by focusing
Dill Joyce Thresher Inc

Avon CT
on increasing operational efficiencies so that we will be even stronger coming out

HBA Insurance Group Inc
of this economic funk than we were going into it

Miami FL

major bright spot in the year was our continued success in attracting superior Alpha Benefits Group Inc

agencies as well as established professional individual agents to join our Plymouth Meeting PA

Company In 2008 we acquired 42 retail agencies with annualized revenues
Fullerton Company Inc

Portland OR
of approximately $111.6 million Fourteen of these operations joined us as new

Burt Associates Benefits Planmng Incstanalone profit centers We are proud of the fact that in four of the last five

Elkhart IN

years agencies with aggregate annualized revenues in excess of $100 million

Reed Brothers Insurance Group Inc
have joined our team Independent agents are attracted to our decentralized

Columbia KY
culture because it honors and relies on strong leadership to operate and make

Advanced Insurance Concepts Inc
decisions at the local profit center level

Bensalem PA

We are able to provide our profit centers the necessary capital to make strategic
Al Phillips Insurance Agency Inc

Nashville TN
acquisitions in their local markets and to hire highquality individuals many of

Health Insurance Exchange Incwhom are new to the insurance business to be trained and developed in our
Seattle WA

local offices Since the 1980s we have reserved approximately 1% of our consoli

Agency Assoaates Inc
dated revenues to provide for 50% of the salary cost of such new hires with the

Zionsville IN

other 50% contributed in each instance by the local office making the hire Today
Stewart Tunno Insurance Agency Inc

we have approximately $20 million of sala cost for new hires primarily sales Portland OR

producers whom we believe will make positive impact on our Companys R.E Sutton Associates LLC

growth in future years Brownsburg IN

Alexander Bolton IncOur success has always been direct result of our people and 2008 was no
Alexandria LA

exception We continue to see very positive results from graduates of our internal

Charter Insurance Services Inc
insurance training school Brown Brown University BBU and during 2008

Albuquerque NM
we expanded BBUs reach by introducing new programs in our Syracuse New

Preferred Insurance Servces LLC

York and Orange County California locations The recruitment training and nurturing Phoenix AZ

of good employees both agents and support personnel continues to be
critically Gallagher Assoaates Inc

important component of our culture Blackwood NJ

Baker Thomsen Associates Insurance Services

Newport Beach CA

BROWN BROWN NC
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THE WHOLESALE BROKERAGE DIVISIONS
totai revenues were $170.6 miflion in 2008

Our Wholesale Brokerage Division markets excess and surplus The Wholesale Brokerage Division was no different from the Retail

commercial and personal insurance products to retail insurance Division when it came to the impact of falling insurance premium

agencies and reinsurance products and services to insurance rates and the slowing of the US economy in generaL The insurance

companies throughout the United States Our Wholesale Brokerage market has softened dramatically in all areas Continued significant

Division offices represent various U.S and UK surplus lines insur governmental involvement in the Florida market continues to

ance companies and certain of our offices are also Lloyds of London create uncertainties in both the standard and excess and surplus

correspondents The Wholesale Brokerage Division also represents lines marketplace

admitted insurance companies for smaller agencies that do not have
Regardless of the challenging insurance marketplace we continue

access to certain insurance company representation Excess and
to increase our recruiting of thestars of tomorrowfrom outstand

surplus lines insurance products include wide variety of insurance
ing colleges and universities Our new recruits are trained in our

coverages including personal lines homeowners jewelry yachts
expanded Brown Brown University for wholesale brokers under

commercial property and casualty commercial automobile garage
the tutelage of our Boot Camp General Liz White who is one of our

restaurant builders risk and inland marine lines Difficult4oinsure

top producers in Peachtree Special Risk Brokers based in Stockbridge
general liability

and products liability coverages are specialty as is

Georgia Additionally as we continue to grow and enhance our pool
excess workers compensation coverage Wholesale brokers solicit

of wholesale brokers we are expanding our wholesale operations
business through mailings and through direct contact with retail

through Texas and California and other points westward
agency representatives

Additional speoahzed wholesale coverages available through this
In March 2008 we announced our initial expansion into the

Division include professional and general liability for the healthcare
international marketplace with the formation and opening of

industry programs for the construction industry oilfleld and marine
Londonbased Wholesale Brokerage Division subsidiary Decus

contractors and longhaul truckers restaurant and liquor liability
Insurance Brokers Limited DlB The goal of Decus Insurance

coverages for the amateur and professional sports industries and
Brokers is to act as traditional UKbased insurance intermethary

the entertainment field in general social services providers and
for the distribution of noninvestment insurance contracts through

directors and officers liability for condominium and residential
out North America Its four operating units are Property Brokerage

associations and other entities

Casualty Brokerage Professional Liability Brokerage and Binding

Authority Programs We are very pleased that during 2008 its first

full year of operation Decus generated $2.6 million of commissions

and fees revenues

In March 2008weannounced

OUR INITIAL EXPANSION

INTO THE INTERNATIONAL

Ii do
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THE NATIONAL PROGRAMS DIVISIONS
tot even ue for 2008 were $1 78 miflion

Our National Programs Division consists of two units Professional revenues generated by the Special Programs Unit in 2008 PH pioneered

Programs and Special Programs This Division manages or administers lenderplaced hazard insurance in the 19705 and due to its proficiency

more than 50 different programs that provide broad spectrum of in underwriting today enjoys outstanding access to insurance capacity
insurance products and services to our clients In most cases the PFI partners with more than 1600 lenders nationwide to protect their

insurance carriers that underwrite the programs have delegated mortgage loan portfolios and REO properties PFIs lenderplaced fire

underwriting and in many instances claims handling authority to and flood coverage is complemented by insurance administration

our programs operations These programs are generally distributed solutions and advanced technology all of which are designed to

through nationwide networks of independent agents and offer enhance the lenders relationships with their customers

targeted products and services designed for specific industries

Also part of our Special Programs Unit are our various public entitytrade groups professions public entities and market niches

operations which collectively represent in excess of $44 million

Professional Programs provides professional liability and related in aggregate annual commissions and fees revenues which is

package insurance products for certain professionals In 2008 32% of the revenues generated by Special Programs Our public

approximately 60% of Professional Programs commissions and entity operations are national leaders in developing insurance ard

fees revenues were generated by CalSurance which specializes reinsurance solutions for governmental agencies and educational

in creating and servicing group programs of which there have been institutions Their specialties include design implementation

112 and of which the moct established has been in existence for and administration of innovative property casualty and workers

30 years CalSurance provides professional liability insurance and compensation insurance and risk management programs including

claims services for approximately 125000 financial professionals and administration of selffunded pooling programs Operations within

insurance agents This entity had an excellent year in 2008 with net our public entity group also act as managing general underwriter

internal growth of 6.5% An important component of CalSurance is of various firstdollar
liability insurance coverages

Lancer Claims Services an operation that provides specialty claims

Other outstanding programs in the Special Programs Unit includeadministration for insurance companies that underwrite CalSurance
Florida Intracoastal Underwriters Limited Company FlU one of

product lines

our indirect subsidiaries that operates as managing general agency

CalSurance is complemented by our other leading professional specializing in providing insurance coverage for coastal and inland

programs including our 40yearold specialized program for dentists highvalue condominiums and apartments American Specialty

the Professional Protector Plan which is endorsed by 20 state dental Insurance Risk Services Inc which provides insurance and risk

societies our 35yearold Lawyers Protector Plan and our 33 yearold management services for clients in professional sports motor sports

Optometric Protector Plan amateur sports and the entertainment industry Parcel Insurance

Plan which provides insurance coverage to commercial and private
Special Programs markets targeted products and services to specific

shippers for small packages and parcels with insured values of less
industries trade groups public and quasipublic entities and market

than $25000 each and Acumen Re Management Corporationniches Most of our special programs are marketed and sold through
reinsurance underwriting management organization that acts

independent agents
primarily as an outsourced specific excess workers compensation

The largest program in the Special Programs Unit is administered facultative reinsurance underwriting facility

by Proctor Financial Inc PFIone of our subsidiaries This program

represented approximately 33% of the total commissions and fees

BROWN BROWN INC
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THE SERVICESDIVISIONS to nues were

$3L1 mUion 2008 and grew 41 th fourth quarter of 2008

The Services Division is comprised of USIS mc Preferred Govern assists with enforcement of the Medicare Secondary Payer Statute

mental Claims Solutions Inc PGCS Allocation Services Inc MSP which is intended to ensure that Medicare does not make

doing business as NuQuest/E3ridge Pointe and AmeriSys division primary payment to health care providers when another responsible

of USIS Inc These operations provide clients with third-party claims payer exists Medicares enforcement rights under the MSP continue

administration and comprehensive medical utilization manage to be strengthened most recently by new federal law addressing

ment services in both the workers compensation and all lines issues of benefit coordination and conditional payment reimburse

liability arenas as well as Medicare set aside services Unlike our ment This new law has resulted in increased opportunities with

other three divisions the Services Divisions revenues are primarily workers compensation liability insurance including self-insurance

derived from fees and no-fault claims

USIS provides comprehensive risk management and third-party AmeriSys provides certified and non certified medical management
administration services for insurance entities and self-funded or and managed care programs for workers compensation insurance

fully-insured workerscompensation and liability plans During 2008
plans Services include case management utilization review and

USIS continued to grow its revenue base by expanding into several management client access to custom developed medical provider
new states including Alabama Georgia and South Carolina

networks PPOs and Return-to Work programs and initiatives

As medical costs consume an ever larger portion of the workers
NuQuest/Bridge Pointe provides full suite of Medicare Secondary

Payer compliance related services including Medicare set-aside
compenation claim dollar AmeriSys provides its customers with

services medical cost projection services Medicare conditional
the systems and programs necessary to contain those costs while

payment resolution and professional administration of settlement
ensuring continued patient satisfaction and promoting prompt

returns to work
funds to more than 300 insurance carriers third-party admmnistra

tors self-insured employers and claimants nationwide This entity

THE SERVICES DIVISIONS INCOME

BEFOREINCOME TAXES
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Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

General
pre-tax margin was essentially flat These improvements resulted

primarily from net new business growth new business production
The following discussion should be read in conjunction with

offset by lost business revenues generated by acquisitions and
our Consolidated Financial Statements and the related Notes to

continued operating efficiencies

those Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in this
The past two years have posed significant challenges for us and

Annual Report
for our industry in the form of prevailing decline in insurance

We are diversified insurance agency wholesale brokerage and
premium rates commonly referred to as soft market increased

services organization headquartered in Daytona Beach and Tampa
significant governmental involvement in the Florida insurance

Florida As an insurance intermediary our principal sources of

marketplace resulting in substantial loss of revenues for us and in

revenue are commissions paid by insurance companies and to
the second half of 2008 increased pressure on the values of

lesser extent fees paid directly by customers Commission revenues
insurable exposure units as the consequence of the general

generally represent percentage of the premium paid by an insured
weakening of the economy in the United States While insurance

and are materially affected by fluctuations in both premium rate

premium rates declined during most of 2008 in most lines of

levels charged by insurance companies and the insureds underlying
coverage the rate of the decline seemed to slow in the second half

insurable exposure units which are units that insurance
of the year There were however indications during this same

companies use to measure or express insurance exposed to risk

period that insurable exposure units such as sales and payroll
such as property values sales and payroll levels in order to

expenditures were also declining In 2009 continued declining
determine what premium to charge the insured These premium

exposure units are likely to have greater negative impact on our
rates are established by insurance companies based upon many

commissions and fees revenues than will any declining insurance
factors including reinsurance rates paid by insurance carriers none

premium rates

of which we control
Beginning in the first quarter of 2007 through the fourth

The volume of business from new and existing insured
quarter of 2008 we experienced negative internal revenue growth

customers fluctuations in insurable exposure units and changes in

each quarter due primarily to the soft market and in the second
general economic and competitive conditions all affect our

half of 2008 due to the decline in insurable exposure units which
revenues For example level rates of inflation or continuing

further reduced our commissions and fees revenues Part of the
general decline in economic activity could limit increases in the

decline in 2007 was the result of the increased governmental
values of insurable exposure units Conversely the increasing costs

involvement in the Florida insurance marketplace as described
of litigation settlements and awards have caused some customers to

below in The Florida Insurance Overview One industry segment
seek higher levels of insurance coverage Historically our revenues

that was hit especially hard during these years was the home-
have continued to grow as result of an intense focus on net new

building industry in southern California and to lesser extent
business growth and acquisitions

Nevada Arizona and Florida We have wholesale brokerage
Our culture is strong decentralized sales culture with focus

operation that focuses on placing property and casualty insurance
on consistent sustained growth over the long term Our senior

products for that homebuilding segment and program operation
leadership group includes 12 executive officers with regional

that places errors and omissions professional liability coverages for

responsibility for oversight of designated operations within the
title agents Both of these operations revenues were negatively

Company Our publicly announced succession plan calls for Powell
affected by these national economic trends throughout 2008

Brown who currently serves as President of Brown Brown Inc to

During 2008 the soft market conditions continued in most parts of
succeed his father Hyatt Brown when he steps down from the

the United States but were more prevalent in the southeast and
position of Chief Executive Officer in July 2009 The plan also

southwest regions of the country
envisions that Mr Hyatt Brown will continue to serve as Chairman of

We experienced increased overall revenue growth in these
the Board and will continue to be actively involved with acquisitions

years which was primarily attributable to our acquisition in 2008 of
and recruitment We have increased revenues from $95.6 million in

45 agency entities and several books of business customer
1993 as originally stated without giving effect to any subsequent

accounts that generated total annualized revenues of

acquisitions accounted for under the pooling-of-interests method of

approximately $120.2 million and our acquisition in 2007 of4l
accounting to $977.6 million in 2008 compound annual growth

agency entities and several books of businesses that generated total

rate of 16.8% In the same period we increased net income from
annualized revenues of approximately $108.3 million Additionally

$8.0 million as originally stated without giving effect to any
in 2007 we sold our investment in Rock-Tenn Company which had

subsequent acquisitions accounted for under the
been held for more than 25 years at gain of $18.7 million

pooling-of-interests method of accounting to $166.1 million in

In 2006 the insurance premium rates increased on coastal

2008 compound annual growth rate of 22.4% From 1993 through
property primarily in the southeastern region of the United States

2006 excluding the historical impact of poolings our pre-tax
as result of the significant losses incurred by insurance carriers in

margins income before income taxes and minority interest divided
the aftermath of the third quarter of 2005 in which the insurance

by total revenues improved in all but one year and in that year the

32 BROWN BROWN INC



industry experienced the worst hurricane season ever recorded In Florida Insurance Overview

the other regions of the United States the insurance premium rates

in general declined during 2006 Many states have established Residual Markets which are

We also earn profit-sharing contingent commissions which governmental or quasi-governmental insurance facilities that

are profit-sharing commissions based primarily on underwriting provide coverage to individuals and/or businesses that cannot buy

results but may also reflect considerations for volume growth and/ insurance in the private marketplace i.e insurers of last resort

or retention These commissions are primarily received in the first These facilities can be for any type of risk or exposure however the

and second quarters of each year based on underwriting results most common are usually automobile or high-risk property

and other aforementioned considerations for the prior years Over coverage Residual Markets can also be referred to as FAIR Plans

the last three years profit-sharing contingent commissions have Windstorm Pools Joint Underwriting Associations or may even be

averaged approximately 6.1% of the previous years total given names styled after the private sector like Citizens Property

commissions and fees revenue Profit-sharing contingent
Insurance Corporation

commissions are typically included in our total commissions and In August 2002 the Florida Legislature created Citizens

fees in the Consolidated Statements of Income in the year received Property Insurance Corporation Citizens to be the insurer of

The term core commissions and fees excludes profit-sharing
last resort in Florida and Citizens therefore charged insurance rates

contingent commissions and therefore represents the revenues that were higher than those prevailing in the general private

earned directly from specific insurance policies sold and specific
insurance marketplace In each of 2004 and 2005 four major

fee-based services rendered Recently six national insurance hurricanes made landfall in Florida and as result of the significant

companies announced the replacement of the current loss-ratio insurance property losses the insurance rates increased in 2006 To

based profit-sharing contingent commission calculation with counter the increased property insurance rates the State of Florida

more guaranteed fixed-based methodology referred to as instructed Citizens to essentially cut its property insurance rates in

Guaranteed Supplemental Commissions GSC Since these new half beginning in January 2007 By state law Citizens has

GSC are not subject to the uncertainty of loss ratios they are guaranteed these rates through January 2010 Therefore Citizens

accrued throughout the year based on actual premiums written As became one of the most if not the most competitive risk-bearers

of December 312008 $13.4 million was earned from GSC during
for large percentage of the commercial habitational coastal

2008 Most of this total will not be collected until the first quarter of property exposures such as condominiums apartments and certain

2009 As of December31 2007 $6.6 million was earned from GSC assisted living facilities Additionally Citizens became the only

during 2007 insurance market for certain homeowner policies throughout

Fee revenues are generated primarily by our Services Florida By the end of 2007 and throughout 2008 Citizens was one

Division which provides insurance-related services including third- of the largest underwriters of coastal property exposures in Florida

party claims administration and comprehensive medical utilization Since Citizens became the principal direct competitor of the

management services in both the workers compensation and insurance carriers that underwrite the condominium program

all-lines
liability arenas as well as Medicare set-aside services and administered by Florida Intracoastal Underwriters Flu one of our

our Wholesale Brokerage and National Program Divisions which indirect subsidiaries and the excess and surplus lines insurers

earn fees primarily for the issuance of insurance policies on behalf of represented by our wholesale brokers such as Hull Company

insurance carriers Fee revenues as percentage of our total another of our subsidiaries these operations suffered the largest

commissions and fees represented 13.7% in 200814.3% in 2007 amount of revenue loss to Citizens during 2007 During 2008 FlUs

and 14.1% in 2006 revenues were relatively flat and therefore Citizens impact was not

Investment income historically consists primarily of interest as dramatic as in 2007 However Citizens continued to be very

earnings on premiums and advance premiums collected and held in competitive against the excess and surplus lines insurers and

fiduciary capacity before being remitted to insurance companies therefore significantly negatively affected the revenues of our

Our policy is to invest available funds in high-quality short-term Florida-based wholesale brokerage operations

fixed income investment securities As result of the bank liquidity
Citizens impact on our Florida Retail Division was less severe

and solvency issues in the United States in the last quarter of 2008 than on our National Program and Wholesale Brokerage Divisions

we moved substantial amounts of our cash into non-interest because to our retail offices Citizens represents another risk-bearer

bearing checking accounts so that they would be fully insured by
with which to write business although at slightly lower commission

the Federal Depository Insurance Corporation FDIC or into rates and greater difficulty in placing coverage Citizens rates for

money-market investment funds portion of which recently
2009 will remain relatively unchanged however it is expected that

became FDIC insured of SunTrust and Wells Fargo two large
Citizens rates will increase by approximately 10% effective

national banks Investment income also includes gains and losses January 2010

realized from the sale of investments In 2007 we sold our

investment in Rock-Tenn Company for net gain of $18.7 million
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Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Current Year Company Overview in gains on the sales of various books of business customer

accounts Additionally we settled an ongoing Internal Revenue

For the second consecutive year we recorded negative internal Service IRS examination of our tax years 2004-2006 for

revenue growth of our commissions and fees revenues as direct si.i million in interest payments
result of the continuing soft market the competitiveness of

Citizens and the general weakness of the economy in the second

half of 2008 Our total commissions and fees revenues excluding the Acquisitions

effect of recent acquisitions profit-sharing contingencies and sales

of books of businesses over the last twelve months had negative
Approximately 15000 independent insurance agencies are

internal growth rate of 5.5% Offsetting the negative internal
estimated to currently exist in the United States Part of our

growth rate was our best year of acquisitions in terms of number of
continuing business strategy is to attract high-quality insurance

transactions During 2008 we completed 62 transactions with
agencies to join our operations From 1993 through 2008 we

estimated annual revenues of $120.2 million
acquired 323 insurance intermediary operations including acquired

During 2008 investment income and other income were
books of business customer accounts that had aggregate

substantially less than in 2007 mainly due to the fact that we had
estimated annual revenues of $862.5 million for the 12 calendar

more infrequent gain transactions in 2007
months immediately preceding the dates of acquisition summary

During 2007 in addition to the $18.7 million gain on the sale of
of our acquisitions over the last three years is as follows dollars in

our investment in Rock-Tenn Company we recognized $13.5 million

thousands

Number of Acquisitions Estimated
____________________

Aggregate

Annual Net Cash Notes Liabilities Purchase

Asset Stock Revenues Paid Issued Assumed Price

2008 43 120.2 255.8 8.3 14.6 278.7

2007 38 108.3 207.9 $13.0 20.5 241.4

2006 32 56.4 138.7 3.7 13.5 155.9
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Results of Operations for the Years Ended

December 3120082007 and 2006

The following discussion and analysis regarding results of Financial information relating to our Consolidated Financial

operations and liquidity and capital resources should be considered Results is as follows in thousands except percentages

in conjunction with the accompanying Consolidated Financial

Statements and related Notes

Percent

2007 Change 2006

REVENUES

Core commissions and fees 909564 6.1 857027 4.1 823615

Profit-sharing contingent commissions 56419 2.1 57623 40.4 41048

Investment income 6079 80.1% 30494 165.7% 11479

Other income net 5492 62.2% 14523 680.0% 1862

Total revenues 977554 1.9 959667 9.3 878004

EXPEN5E5

Employee compensation and benefits 485783 9.4 444101 9.7% 404891

Non-cash stock-based compensation 7314 29.1 5667 4.6 5416

Other operating expenses 137352 4.6% 131371 3.9% 126492

Amortization 46631 15.3 40436 10.8% 36498

Depreciation 13286 4.1 12763 12.9 11309

Interest 14690 6.4% 13802 3.3 13357

Total expenses 705056 8.8 648140 8.4 597963

Income before income taxes 272498 12.5% 311527 11.2 280041

Net internal growth rate core commissions and fees 5.5% 3.4% 4.0

Employee compensation and benefits ratio 49.7 46.3 46.1

Other operating expenses ratio 14.1 13.7 14.4%

Capitalexpenditures 14115 30643 14979

Total assets at December31 2119580 $1960659 $1807952

COMMISSIONS AND FEES
coverage The 2007 decrease of 3.4% represents $27.9 million of net

Commissions and fees revenue including profit-sharing lost core commissions and fees revenue of which $23.0 million is

contingent commissions increased 5.6% in 20085.8% in 2007 and related to our operations affected by the Florida insurance

11.5% in 2006 Profit-sharing contingent commissions decreased marketplace and $6.2 million is related to our subsidiary that serves

$1.2 million to $56.4 million in 2008 primarily due to higher loss the home-building industry in southern California

ratios and therefore lower profitability for insurance carriers Profit-

INVESTMENT INCOME
sharing contingent commissions increased $16.6 million to

$57.6 million in 2007 primarily as result of better-than-average
Investment income decreased to $6.1 million in 2008

year for insurance companies loss ratios Core commissions and fees compared with $30.5 million in 2007 and $11.5 million in 2006 The

decrease in 2008 from 2007 of $24.4 million was primarily due to the
revenue decreased 5.5% in 2008 and 3.4% in 2007 and increased

sale of our investment in Rock-Tenn Company which had been held

4.0% in 2006 when excluding commissions and fees revenue
for more than 25 years for net gain of $18.7 million The remaining

generated from acquired operations and also from divested

$5.7 million decrease in investment income in 2008 was primarily
operations The 2008 decrease of 5.5% represents $46.7 million of

due to lower investment yields
net lost core commissions and fees revenue of which $31.0 million is

related to our Retail Wholesale and Services Operations based in OTHER INCOME NET

Florida The remaining decrease in our non-Florida retail and
Other income consists primarily of gains and losses from the

wholesale brokerage operations in 2008 was $32.3 million but that
sale and disposition of assets In 2008 gains of $1.0 million were

was substantially offset by strong revenue growth of $14.8 million in

recognized from sales of books of business customer accounts as

Proctor Financial subsidiary that provides lender-placed insurance
compared with $13.7 million and $1.1 million in 2007 and 2006
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respectively Although we are not in the business of selling books of OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

business we periodically will sell an office or book of business that As percentage of total revenues other operating expenses

does not produce reasonable margins or demonstrate potential for represented 14.1% in 2008 13.7% in 2007 and 14.4% in 2006 Other

growth operating expenses in 2008 increased $6.0 million over 2007 of

which $12.2 million was related to acquisitions that joined as stand-
EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION AND BENEFITS

alone offices The remaining net $6.2 million decrease from the

Employee compensation and benefits increased approximately
offices in existence in both 2008 and 2007 including the new

9.4% or $41.7 million in 2008 of which $46.8 million was related to

acquisitions that folded into those offices were broad-based

acquisitions that were stand-alone offices Of the remaining net
reductions relating to supplies telephone insurance legal and

$5.1 million decrease from the offices in existence in both 2008 and
claims expenses Other operating expenses in 2007 increased

2007 including the new acquisitions that folded into those offices
$4.9 million over the 2006 amount which included one-time

the major decreases were primarily related to producer commissions
$5.8 million payment to the State of Florida described below an

and bonuses of $10.7 million off-set by an increase in compensation
effective increase in cost of $10.7 million The intermediaries

of new salaried producers of $4.9 million Employee compensation
acquired in 2007 that were not combined with existing company

and benefits increased approximately 9.7% in 2007 and 8.0% in

offices and remained as stand-alone offices accounted for

2006 primarily as result of acquisitions and an increase in

$11.1 million of the $10.7 million net increase Thus excluding the
commissions paid on net new business Employee compensation

effects of acquisitions the 2007 other operating expenses were
and benefits as percentage of total revenues represented 46.3% in

slightly lower in 2007 than 2006
2007 and 46.1% in 2006 reflecting slight increase due to

In 2006 legal and professional fee expenses increased
acquisitions We had 5398 full-time equivalent employees at

$1.7 million over the amount expended in 2005 This increase was
December 31 2008 compared with 5047 at December 31 2007 and

primarily due to the costs associated with investigations and
4733 at December 31 2006 Of the 351 net increase in full-time

litigation relating to agent and broker compensation including
equivalent employees at December31 2008 over the prior year-end

profit-sharing contingent commissions by state regulators and to
489 were from the acquisitions that continued as stand-alone

lesser extent the costs of compliance with certain requirements of

offices thus reflecting net reduction of 138 employees in the
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 Additionally in 2006 total of

offices existing at both year-ends
$5.8 million was paid to State of Florida regulatory authorities and

NON-CASH STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION other parties which concluded the State of Floridas investigation of

The Company grants stock options and non-vested stock compensation paid to us

awards to its employees Effective January 12006 the Company AMORTIZATION
adopted the provisions of SFAS No 23R Share-Based Payment

Amortization expense increased $6.2 millionor 15.3% in 2008
SFAS 123R for its stock-based compensation plans Among other

$3.9 million or 10.8% in 2007 and $3.3 million or 9.8% in 2006 The
things SFAS 23R requires that compensation expense for all share-

increases in 2008 and 2007 were due to the amortization of
based awards be recognized in the financial statements based upon

additional intangible assets as result of acquisitions completed in

the grant-date fair value of those awards
those years

For 2008 2007 and 2006 the non-cash stock-based

compensation under SFAS 23R incorporates costs related to each DEPRECIATION

ofourthree stock-based plans as explained in Note 11 of the Notes
Depreciation increased 4.1% in 2008 12.9% in 2007 and 12.4%

to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in 2006 These increases were primarily due to the purchase of new

Non-cash stock-based compensation increased 29.1% or
computers related equipment and software corporate aircraft and

$1.6 million in 2008 as result of new Performance Stock Plan the depreciation of fixed assets associated with acquisitions

PSP shares and incentive stock options ISO granted primarily
completed in those years

in February 2008 Prior to the February 2008 grants the last major
INTEREST EXPENSE

grant of PSP and ISO shares occurred in January 2003 We do not

expect another major grant of PSP or ISO shares until the later of the Interest expense increased $0.9 million or 6.4% in 2008 over

date that the Companys stock price approaches $37.00 per share or 2007 primarily as result of the additional $25.0 million that was

five years from February 2008 However we will continue to grant borrowed in February 2008 Interest expense increased $0.4 million

additional PSP shares to producers who increase their existing books or 3.3% in 2007 over 2006 as result of the additional $25.0 million

of business key personnel who are new to the Company and key
that was borrowed in December 2006 but which was partially offset

employees who take on additional responsibilities within the by the $12.9 million reduction in the term loan balance due to the

normal quarterly principal paymentsCompany
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INCOME TAXES December31 each year which will be reversed by the following

The effective tax rate on income from operations was 39.0% in March 31 when the related profit-sharing contingent commissions

2008 38.7% in 2007 and 38.5% in 2006 The higher effective tax rate are recognized for financial accounting purposes

in 2008 and 2007 compared with 2006 was primarily the result of

reduced benefits from tax-exempt interest income increased

Results of Operations Segment Information
amounts of business conducted in states having higher state tax

rates and $1.1 million settlement payment to the U.S Internal
As discussed in Note 16 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial

Revenue Service IRS in 2007 During 2007 the IRS concluded its

Statements we operate four reportable segments or divisions the

audit of our 2004-2006 tax years in which it disputed our method of
Retail Wholesale Brokerage National Programs and Services

recognizing profit-sharing contingent commissions for tax purposes
Divisions On divisional basis increases in amortization

We recognize profit-sharing contingent commissions when
depreciation and interest expenses are the result of acquisitions

determinable which is when such commissions are received
within given division in particular year Likewise other income in

however the IRS believes that we should estimate those amounts as
each division primarily reflects net gains on sales of customer

of each December31 We agreed to resolve this dispute for
accounts and fixed assets As such in evaluating the operational

$1.1 million payment of interest and our agreement to accrue at
efficiency of division management places emphasis on the net

each December 31 for tax purposes only known amount of profit-
internal growth rate of core commissions and fees revenue the

sharing contingent commissions represented by the actual amount
gradual improvement of the ratio of total employee compensation

of profit-sharing contingent commissions received in the first
and benefits to total revenues and the gradual improvement of the

quarter of the related year with true-up adjustment to the actual
ratio of other operating expenses to total revenues

amount received by the following March 31 Because this method
The internal growth rates for our core commissions and fees for

now required for tax purposes differs from the method used for
the three years ended December 31 20082007 and 2006 by

book purposes it will result in current deferred tax asset as of
divisional units are as follows in thousands except percentages

2008 Fortheyears

ended

December31 Less Internal Internal

Total Net Total Net Acquisition Net Net

2007 Change Growth Revenues Growth Growth

Florida Retail 168576 174744 6168 3.5% 12490 18658 10.7%

National Retail 294563 238017 56546 23.8% 64337 7791 3.3%

Western Retail 98307 91234 7073 7.8% 15321 8248 9.0%

Total Retail 561446 503995 57451 11.4% 92148 34697 6.9%

WholesaleBrokerage 150048 156790 6742 4.3% 16192 22934 14.6%

Professional Programs 43401 42185 1216 2.9 1216 2.9%

Special Programs 122532 108747 13785 12.7% 674 13111 12.1

Total National Programs 165933 150932 15001 9.9% 674 14327 9.5%

Services 32137 35505 3368 9.5% 3368 9.5%

Total Core Commissions and Fees 909564 847222 62342 7.4 $109014 46672 5.5%

The reconciliation of the above internal growth schedule to the total Commissions and Fees included in the Consolidated Statements of

Income for the years ended December31 2008 and 2007 is as follows in thousands except percentages

For the years

ended

December 31

2007

Total core commissions and fees 909564 847222

56419 57623Profit-sharing contingent commissions

9805Divested business

Total commissions and fees $965983 $914650
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2007 For the years

ended

December31 Less Internal Internal

Total Net Total Net Acquisition Net Net

2007 2006 Change Growth Revenues Growth Growth

Florida Retail 175330 $175205 125 0.1 3108 2983 1.7%

National Retail 242762 202763 39999 19.7% 40808 809 0.4%

Western Retail 95357 101386 6029 5.9% 436 6465 6.4%

Total Retail1 513449 479354 34095 7.1 44352 10257 2.1%

Wholesale Brokerage 156978 151278 5700 3.8% 15221 9521 6.3%

Professional Programs 42348 40867 1481 3.6% 423 1058 2.6%

Special Programs 108747 113141 4394 3.9% 5357 9751 8.6%

Total National Programs 151095 154008 2913 1.9% 5780 8693 5.6%

Services 35505 32561 2944 9.0% 2328 616 1.9%

Total Core Commissions and Fees 857027 817201 39826 4.9 67681 27855 3.4%

The reconciliation of the above internal growth schedule to the total Commissions and Fees included in the Consolidated Statements of

Income for the years ended December31 2007 and 2006 is as follows in thousands except percentages

For the years

ended

December 31

2007 2006

Total core commissions and fees 857027 817201

Profit-sharing contingent commissions 57623 41048

Divested business 6414

Total commissions and fees 914650 864663

2006 For the years

ended

December31
Less Internal Internal

Total Net Total Net
Acquisition Net Net

2006 2005 Change Growth Revenues Growth Growth

Florida Retail $175885 $155741 20144 12.9% 493 $19651 12.6%

National Retail 206661 198033 8628 4.4% 11417 2789 1.4%

Western Retail 103222 103951 729 0.7% 4760 5489 5.3%

Total Retail1 485768 457725 28043 6.1% 16670 11373 2.5%

Wholesale Brokerage 151278 120889 30389 25.1% 25616 4773 3.9%

Professional Programs 40867 41930 1063 2.5% 43 1106 2.6%

Special Programs 113141 90933 22208 24.4% 9255 12953 14.2%

Total National Programs 154008 132863 21145 15.9% 9298 11847 8.9%

Services 32561 26565 5996 22.6 4496 1500 5.6

Total Core Commissions and Fees 823615 738042 85573 11.6 56080 29493 4.0
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The reconciliation of the above internal growth schedule to the total Commissions and Fees included in the Consolidated Statements of

Income for the years ended December31 2006 and 2005 is as follows in thousands except percentages

For the years

ended

December 31

2006 2005

Total core commissions and fees 823615 738042

Profit-sharing contingent commissions 41048 34976

Divested business 2525

Total commissions and fees 864663 775543

The Retail segment includes commissions and fees reported in the Other column of the Segment Information in Note 16 of the Notes to the Consolidated

Financial Statements which includes corporate and consolidation items

RETAIL DIVISION as premiums fluctuate we believe that most of any fluctuation in the

The Retail Division provides broad range of insurance commissions net of related compensation that we receive will be

products and services to commercial public and quasi-public reflected in our pre-tax income

professional and individual insured customers Approximately 96.0% Financial information relating to Brown Browns Retail

of the Retail Divisions commissions and fees revenue is commission- Division is as follows in thousands except percentages

based Because most of our other operating expenses do not change

Percent

sIs1 2007 change 2006

REVENUES

Core commissions and fees 560311 8.9 514639 5.8% 486419

Profit-sharing contingent commissions 25884 22.5% 33399 11.1 30070

Investment income 999 284.2% 260 87.1 139

Other income net 3044 78.5% 14140 NMF 1361

Total revenues 590238 4.9 562438 8.6% 517989

EXPENSES

Employee compensation and benefits 291486 10.8 263056 8.5 242469

Non-cash stock-based compensation 3610 11.3 3243 9.0 2976

Other operating expenses 93372 5.7 88359 6.5 82966

Amortization 26827 23.9 21659 12.2% 19305

Depreciation 6061 5.9% 5723 1.8% 5621

Interest 30287 43.6 21094 11.6% 18903

Total expenses 451643 12.0% 403134 8.3% 372240

Income before income taxes 138595 13.0% 159304 9.3% 145749

Net internal growth rate core commissions and fees 6.9% 2.1% 2.5

Employee compensation and benefits ratio 49.4 46.8 46.8

Other operating expenses ratio 15.8 15.7% 16.0%

Capital expenditures 4152 5816 5952

Total assets at December31 1687137 $1356772 1103107

The Retail Divisions total revenues in 2008 increased was due to net growth in core commissions and fees however

$27.8 million to $590.2 million 4.9% increase over 2007 Profit- $92.1 million was from acquisitions for which there were no

sharing contingent commissions in 2008 decreased $7.5 million comparable revenues in 2007 Therefore after removing the

from 2007 primarily due to increased loss ratios resulting in lower revenue from acquisitions from the calculation $34.7 million was

profitability for insurance carriers in 2007 Approximately lost on same-store sales basis resulting in negative internal

$45.7 million of the change in the Retail Divisions total revenues growth rate of 6.9% Most of the negative internal growth resulted

2008 ANNUAL REPORT 39



Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

from continued competitive insurance pricing primarily in Florida negative internal growth resulted from continued competitive

Additionally even though there are signs that declines in insurance insurance pricing in the western United States However some of

rates are slowing the second half of 2008 was marked by indications the most competitive pricing in the second half of 2007 year

of additional slowing of the economy which resulted in reduction occurred in Florida

in insurable exposure units For 2009 the slowing economy will Income before income taxes in 2007 increased $13.6 million

most
likely

have greater impact on the premium volume of our from 2006 of which $13.7 million was from historically high

customers than will the insurance premium rates amount of gains from sales of books of business customer

Income before income taxes in 2008 decreased $20.7 million accounts Even though the sales of customer accounts were higher

from 2007 of which $11.1 million was primarily attributable to than normal during 2007 we do not believe that this is indicative of

historically high amount of gains from the sales of books of business future trend The remaining decrease was due to the reduced

customer accounts in 2007 The remaining decrease of $9.6 million earnings from core commissions and fees which were partially

was due to reduced profit sharing contingent commissions and to offset by earnings from acquisitions

reduced earnings from core commissions and fees offset by
WHOLESALE BROKERAGE DIVISION

earnings from acquisitions

The Wholesale Brokerage Division markets and sells excess andThe Retail Divisions total revenues in 2007 increased

$44.4 million to $562.4 million an 8.6% increase over 2006 Of this
surplus commercial and personal lines insurance and reinsurance

increase approximately $34.1 million was attributable to the net primarily through independent agents and brokers Like the Retail

and National Programs Divisions the Wholesale Brokerage Divisions
growth in core commissions and fees however $44.4 million was

from acquisitions for which there were no comparable revenues in
revenues are primarily commission-based

Financial information relating to our Wholesale Brokerage2006 and therefore $10.3 million was lost on same-store sales

Division is as follows in thousands except percentagesbasis resulting in negative internal growth rate of 2.1% Most of the

Percent

2007 Change 2006

REVENUES

Core commissions and fees 150048 4.4% $156978 3.8% $151278

Profit-sharing contingent commissions 18538 1.2% 18311 129.2% 7990

Investment income 1414 51.7% 2927 27.1% 4017

Other income net 645 1.2% 726 NMF 61

Total revenues 170645 4.6% 178942 9.5 163346

EXPENSES

Employee compensation and benefits 87297 0.2% 87500 11.5 78459

Non-cash stock-based compensation 810 2.4% 791 52.4% 519

Otheroperating expenses 33815 7.3% 31522 10.3% 28582

Amortization 10205 10.5 9237 14.2 8087

Depreciation 2892 6.5 2715 30.8% 2075

Interest 18033 6.0% 19188 2.3 18759

Total expenses 153052 1.4% 150953 10.6% 136481

Income before income taxes 17593 37.1% 27989 4.2% 26865

Net internal growth rate core commissions and fees 14.6% 6.3% 3.9

Employee compensation and benefits ratio 51.2 48.9 48.0

Other operating expenses ratio 19.8 17.6 17.5

Capital expenditures 4794 2835 2085

Total assets at December31 618662 640931 618374

The Wholesale Brokerage Divisions total revenues in 2008 $6.9 million approximately $16.2 million related to core

decreased $8.3 million from 2007 of which $6.9 million was commissions and fees revenues from acquisitions for which there

attributable to the reduction in core commissions and fees revenues were no comparable revenues in 2007 The net internal growth rate

and $1.5 million was attributable to the reduction in investment for core commissions and fees revenues in 2008 was 4.6% or

income Of the net decrease in core commissions and fees of $22.9 million less in revenues than in 2007 excluding core
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commissions and fees revenue recognized in 2008 from new $15.2 million related to core commissions and fees revenue from

acquisitions The negative internal growth rate for the Division was acquisitions for which there were no comparable revenue in 2006

the result of lost revenues from nearly every one of our Wholesale The Wholesale Brokerage Divisions net internal growth rate for core

Brokerage operations including our reinsurance intermediary commissions and fees revenue in 2007 was 6.3% or $9.5 million

Axiom Re In the competitive soft market of 2008 not only did less in revenue than in 2006 excluding core commissions and fees

insurance premium rates continue to drop but standard admitted revenue recognized in 2007 from new acquisitions The negative

insurance carriers continued to pursue accounts in classes of internal growth rate for the Wholesale Brokerage Division was

business that would have been forced to go to excess and surplus primarily the result of the continuation of lost revenues from the

lines market via wholesale brokers because coverage would not same wholesale operations that had the most significant loss of

have been available in the standard admitted markets Additionally revenues in 2006 One of those operations which focuses on home-

our Florida-based wholesale brokerage operations lost $3.3 million building construction accounts in the western United States lost

of revenue in 2008 as result of the continued competitive rate $6.2 million as result of the continued slow-down in economic

environment created primarily by Citizens In 2009 if the standard activity in that region during the year in combination with lower

insurance carriers begin to restrict their appetite for the more insurance premium rates The other significantly affected operation

non-standard type of insurance risk some of that business may was our Florida-based wholesale brokerage subsidiary of Hull

begin to flow back into the excess and surplus lines marketplace via Company which lost $5.8 million of revenue in 2007 as result of

our wholesale brokers If this were to happen it would probably not the competitive rate environment created by Citizens Conversely

occur before the second half of 2009 the revenues generated by our binding authority operations and

Income before income taxes in 2008 decreased $10.4 million to our reinsurance intermediary Axiom Re increased in 2007

$17.6 million 37.1% decrease from 2007 This decrease is due Income before income taxes in 2007 increased $1.1 million to

primarily to net lost business lower investment income and an $28.0 million 4.2% increase over 2006 This increase is attributable

increase in other operating expenses primarily from data in part to the fact that the 2007 loss from our reinsurance

processing bad debts rent and telephone expenses intermediary was $2.1 million less than in 2006 and to higher

Total revenues in 2007 increased $15.6 million over 2006 of earnings generated by our binding authority operations mainly in

which $10.3 million was from increased profit-sharing contingent the form of higher profit-sharing contingent commissions

commissions and $5.7 million from core commissions and fees Offsetting these increases our operation that focuses on home

Profit-sharing contingent commissions increased as result of building construction accounts in the western region of the United

higher insurance company profitability resulting from increased States earned $2.9 million less income before income taxes than it

premium rates during 2006 as well as new profit-sharing contingent earned in 2006 due principally to the reduction in revenues

commissions received by operations acquired in 2006 Of the net mentioned above

increase in core commissions and fees of $5.7 million approximately
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NATIONAL PROGRAMS DIVISION
specific industries trade groups public and quasi-public entities and

The National Programs Division is comprised of two units market niches Like the Retail Division arid the Wholesale Brokerage

Professional Programs which provides professional liability and Division the National Programs Divisions revenues are primarily

related package products for certain professionals delivered through commission-based

nationwide networks of independent agents and Special Programs Financial information relating to our National Programs

which markets targeted products and services designated for Division is as follows in thousands except percentages

Percent

iIi1 2007 Change 2006

REVENUES

Core commissions and fees 165933 9.8 $151095 1.9% $154008

Profit-sharing contingent commissions 11997 102.9 5913 97.9% 2988

lnvestmentincome 327 36.3% 513 18.8% 432

Other income net 29 7.4 27 35.0 20

Total revenues 178286 13.2 157548 0.1 157448

EXPENSES

Employee compensation and benefits 68116 8.5 62755 3.4% 60692

Non-cash stock-based compensation 800 0.1% 801 53.2% 523

Other operating expenses 26761 6.7 25084 3.6% 26014

Amortization 9098 0.7 9039 3.7% 8718

Depreciation 2693 2.3% 2757 15.5% 2387

Interest 7531 24.5% 9977 5.5% 10554

Total expenses 114999 4.2% 110413 1.4% 108888

Income before income taxes 63287 34.3% 47135 2.9% 48560

Net internal growth rate core commissions and fees 9.5 0/i 5.6% 8.9

Employee compensation and benefits ratio 38.2 39.8 38.5

Other operating expenses ratio 15.0 15.9 16.5

Capital expenditures 2867 1831 3750

Total assets at December31 607599 570295 544272

The National Programs Divisions total revenues in 2008 Income before income taxes in 2008 increased $16.2 million to

increased $20.7 million to $178.3 million 13.2% increase over 2007 $63.3 million 34.3% increase over 2007 Most of this increase is

Profit-sharing contingent commissions in 2008 increased attributable to increased profit-sharing contingent commissions and

$6.1 million from 2007 primarily due to the improved profitability of the net new business generated by our subsidiary that specializes in

the insurance carriers during calendar year 2007 Of the $14.8 million lender-placed insurance

increase in core commissions and fees revenues only approximately Total revenues in 2007 were essentially flat compared with 2006

$0.7 million related to Core commissions and fees revenue from due to the netting of different programs some of which had very

acquisitions for which there were no comparable revenues in 2007 good growth and another of which lost nearly half of its revenues in

The National Programs Divisions net internal growth rate for core 2007 Approximately $5.8 million related to core commissions and

commissions and fees revenue was 9.5% excluding core fees revenues from acquisitions for which there were no comparable

commissions and fees revenues recognized in 2008 from new revenues in 2006 The National Programs Divisions net internal

acquisitions The majority of the internally generated growth in the growth rate for core commissions and fees revenues was 5.6%
2008 core commissions and fees revenues was primarily related to representing $8.7 million of lost revenues excluding core

$14.8 million of net new business written in our Proctor Financial commissions and fees revenues recognized in 2007 and attributable

subsidiary that provides lender-placed insurance Additionally our to new acquisitions As previously discussed when Citizens began to

professional liability programs generated net new business of compete aggressively in Florida on January 12007 it had

approximately $1.6 million our condominium program at Florida significant impact on the condominium program administered by

Intracoastal Underwriters FlU was flat and our public entity our FlU subsidiary In 2007 FlU lost $13.4 million of the $27.2 million

business lost approximately $1.6 million of core commissions and of total core commissions and fees that it had earned in 2006 Most

fees revenues mainly due to premium rate reductions of our other programs including our lawyers and dental
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professional liability programs our public entity business our sports
SERVICES DIVISION

and entertainment programs and our operation that provides The Services Division provides insurance-related services

lender-placed insurance had positive internal growth including third-party claims administration TPA and

Income before income taxes in 2007 decreased only $1.4 million comprehensive medical utilization management services in both the

from 2006 However excluding the $3.0 million portion of the $5.8 mil- workers compensation and all-lines liability arenas as well as

lion paid to the State of Florida regulatory authorities and other parties Medicare set-aside services Unlike our other segments

in 2006 that was allocated to National Programs the net decrease was approximately 98.9% of the Services Divisions 2008 commissions

$4.4 million Of that decrease $10.7 million was attributable to FlU this and fees revenue is generated from fees which are not significantly

amount was somewhat offset by increased earnings from 2007 affected by fluctuations in general insurance premiums

acquisitions and from the programs that experienced positive internal Financial information relating to our Services Division is as

growth in 2007 follows in thousands except percentages

Percent

2007 Change 2006

REVENUES

Core commissions and fees $32137 9.5% $35505 9.0% $32561

Profit-sharing contingent commissions

lnvestmentincome 13 58.1% 31 31.1% 45

Other loss income net 95.8% 144 100.0%

Total revenues 32144 9.2% 35392 8.5 32606

EXPENSES

Employee compensation and benefits 18293 S.8% 19416 7.0% 18147

Non-cash stock-based compensation 140 0.7% 139 17.8% 118

Other operating expenses 4924 9.9% 5467 8.0 5062

Amortization 462 462 34.7 343

Depreciation 421 21.21% 534 0.2% 533

Interest 751 4.5 719 63.4% 440

Total expenses 24991 6.5% 26737 8.5 24643

Income before income taxes 7153 17.4% 8655 8.7% 7963

Net internal growth rate core commissions and fees 9.5% 1.9% 5.6%

Employee compensation and benefits ratio 56.9 54.9% 55.7%

Other operating expenses ratio 15.3 15.4% 15.5%

Capital expenditures
301 318 588

TotalassetsatDecember3l $45360 $41233 $32554

The Services Divisions total revenues in 2008 decreased fees revenues from an acquisition for which there were no

$3.2 million from 2007 Of this decrease $4.2 million related to loss comparable revenues in 2006 The Services Divisions net internal

of business beginning in September 2007 when one of our largest growth rate for core commissions and fees revenues was 1.9% in

clients transferred the bulk of its claims-paying services in-house 2007 excluding the 2006 core commissions and fees revenues from

which resulted in revenue reduction of approximately $400000 acquisitions and divested business The positive net internal growth

per month through August 2008 Partially offsetting this decrease in rates from core commissions and fees revenues primarily reflect the

revenues was $1.0 million of net new business growth generated by net new business growth from our subsidiary that specializes in

our Medicare Secondary Payer statute compliance-related services Medicare Secondary Payer statute compliance-related services The

Income before income taxes in 2008 decreased $1.5 million commissions and fees generated by our workers compensation and

from 2007 primarily due to the loss of $4.2 million of workers public and quasi-public entity TPA business were essentially flat in

compensation claims business which was partially offset by the 2007 compared with 2006

transfer of approximately $2.3 million of the related ongoing annual Income before income taxes in 2007 increased $0.7 million over

claims-paying costs 2006 primarily due to strong net new business growth in our

Total revenues in 2007 increased $2.8 million over 2006 of subsidiary that specializes in Medicare Secondary Payer statute

which approximately $2.3 million related to core commissions and compliance-related services
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OTHER
balance at December 31 2006 During 2007 $21 5.3 million of cash

As discussed in Note 16 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial was provided from operating activities Also during this period

Statements the Other column in the Segment Information table $212.3 million of cash was used for acquisitions $30.6 million was

includes any income and expenses not allocated to reportable used for additions to fixed assets $29.1 million was used for

segments and corporate-related items including the inter-company payments on long-term debt and $35.1 million was used for

interest expense charges to reporting segments During 2007 we payment of dividends

sold all of our shares of Rock-Tenn Company and recorded total Our cash and cash equivalents of $88.5 million at December31

gain of $18.7 million 2006 reflected decrease of $12.1 million from the $100.6 million

balance at December 31 2005 During 2006 $225.2 million of cash

was provided from operating activities Also during this period

Liquidity and Capital Resources
$143.7 million of cash was used for acquisitions $15.0 million was

Our cash and cash equivalents of $78.6 million at December 31
used for additions to fixed assets $87.4 million was used for

2008 reflected an increase of $40.3 million from the $38.2 million
payments on long-term debt and $29.3 million was used for

balance at December31 2007 During 2008 $341.8 million of cash
payment of dividends

was provided from operating activities Also during this period
Our ratio of current assets to current liabilities the current

$263.4 million of cash was used for acquisitions $14.1 million was
ratio was 1.00 and 1.06 at December31 2008 and 2007

used for additions to fixed assets $20.3 million was used for
respectively

payments on long-term debt and $40.2 million was used for CONTRACTUAL CASH OBLIGATIONS

payment of dividends
As of December31 2008 our contractual cash obligations were

Our cash and cash equivalents of $38.2 million at December 31
as follows

2007 reflected decrease of $50.2 million from the $88.5 million

LessThan 1-3 4-5 After

in thousands Year Years Years Years

Long-term debt $259750 6134 $103616 $150000

Capital lease obligations 28 28

Other long-term liabilities 11437 9189 363 473 1412

Operating leases 97721 26606 39155 19341 12619

Interestobligations 68205 14408 27219 17675 8903

Unrecognizedtaxbenefits 611 611

Maximum future acquisition contingency payments 211919 66611 141225 4083

Total contractual cash obligations $649671 $122976 $312189 $41572 $172934

DEBT
three-year period with interest rates that may be fixed or floating

ri July 2004 the Company completed private placement of and with such maturity dates not to exceed ten 10 years as the

$200.0 million of unsecured senior notes the Notes The parties may determine The Master Agreement includes various

$200.0 million is divided into two series Series for $100.0 million covenants limitations and events of default similar to the Notes

due in 2011 and bearing interest at 5.57% per year and Series for issued in 2004 The initial issuance of notes under the Master

$100.0 million due in 2014 and bearing interest at 6.08% per year Agreement occurred on December 22 2006 through the issuance of

The closing on the Series Notes occurred on July 15 2004 The $25.0 million in Series Senior Notes due December 22 2016 with

closing on the Series Notes occurred on September 15 2004 fixed interest rate of 5.66% per annum On February 2008

Brown Brown has used the proceeds from the Notes for general $25.0 million in Series Senior Notes due January 15 2015 with

corporate purposes including acquisitions and repayment of fixed interest rate of 5.37% per annum were issued As of

existing debt As of December 31 2008 and 2007 there was an December 31 2008 there was an outstanding balance of

outstanding balance of $200.0 million on the Notes $50.0 million under the Master Agreement

On December 22 2006 the Company entered into Master On June 12 2008 the Company entered into an Amended and

Shelf and Note Purchase Agreement the Master Agreement with Restated Revolving Loan Agreement the Loan Agreement with

national insurance company the Purchaser The Purchaser also national banking institution that was dated as of June 2008

purchased Notes issued by the Company in 2004 The Master amending and restating the existing Revolving Loan Agreement

Agreement provides for $200.0 million private uncommitted dated September 29 2003 as amended the Revolving

shelf
facility

for the issuance of senior unsecured notes over Agreement in order to increase the lending commitment to
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$50.0 million subject to potential increases up to $100.0 million raise additional capital through either the private or public

and to extend the maturity date from December 20 2011 to June debt markets

2013 The Revolving Agreement initially provided for revolving
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

credit
facility

in the maximum principal amount of $75.0 million

After series of amendments that provided covenant exceptions for
Our Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared in

the notes issued or to be issued under the Master Agreement and
accordance with GAAP The preparation of these financial

relaxed or deleted certain other covenants the maximum principal
statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect

amount was reduced to $20.0 millionThe calculation of interest and
the reported amounts of assets liabilities revenues and expenses

fees is generally based on the Companys quarterly ratio of funded
We continually evaluate our estimates which are based on historical

debt to earnings before interest taxes depreciation amortization
experience and on assumptions that we believe to be reasonable

and non-cash stock-based compensation Interest is charged at
under the circumstances These estimates form the basis for our

rate equal to 0.50% to 1.00% above the London Interbank Offering
judgments about the carrying values of our assets and liabilities

Rate LIBOR or 1.00% below the base rate each as more fully

which values are not readily apparent from other sources Actual

defined in the Loan Agreement Fees include an upfront fee an
results may differ from these estimates

availability fee of 0.10% to 0.20% and letter of credit usage fee of
We believe that of our significant accounting policies see

0.50% to 1.00% The Loan Agreement contains various covenants
Note Summary of Significant Accounting Policies of the Notes

limitations and events of default customary for similar facilities for
to Consolidated Financial Statements the following critical

similar borrowers The 90-day LIBOR was 1.425% and 4.70% as of
accounting policies may involve higher degree of judgment and

December 31 2008 and 2007 respectively There were no
complexity

borrowings against this facility at December31 2008 or 2007 REVENUE RECOGNITION

In January 2001 Brown Brown entered into $90.0 million
Commission revenues are recognized as of the effective date of

unsecured seven-year Term Agreement with national banking the insurance policy or the date on which the policy premium is

institution bearing an interest rate based upon the 30- 60- or
billed to the customer whichever is later At that date the earnings

90-day LIBOR plus 0.50% to 1.00% depending upon Brown
process has been completed and we can reliably estimate the

Browns quarterly ratio of funded debt to earnings before interest
impact of policy cancellations for refunds and establish reserves

taxes depreciation amortization and non-cash stock-based
accordingly Management determines the policy cancellation

compensation The 90-day LIBOR was 4.70% as of December31
reserve based upon historical cancellation experience adjusted in

2007 The loan was fully funded on January 32001 and was to be
accordance with known circumstances Subsequent commission

repaid in equal quarterly installments of $3200000 through
adjustments are recognized upon our receipt of notification

December 2007 As of December31 2007 the outstanding balance
concerning matters necessitating such adjustments from the

had been paid in full
insurance companies Profit-sharing contingent commissions are

All four of these credit agreements require or required
recognized when determinable which is when such commissions

Brown Brown to maintain certain financial ratios and comply with
are received from insurance companies or when we receive formal

certain other covenants Brown Brown was in compliance with all
notification of the amount of such payments Fee revenues are

such covenants as of December 31 2008 and 2007
recognized as services are rendered

Neither we nor our subsidiaries has ever incurred off-balance

sheet obligations through the use of or investment in off-balance BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND PURCHASE PRICE

sheet derivative financial instruments or structured finance or
ALLOCATIONS

special purpose entities organized as corporations partnerships or
We have significant intangible assets that were acquired

limited liability companies or trusts through business acquisitions These assets consist of purchased

We believe that our existing cash cash equivalents short-term customer accounts non-compete agreements and the excess of

investment portfolio and funds generated from operations
purchase prices over the fair value of identifiable net assets acquired

together with our Master Agreement and the Loan Agreement Goodwill The determination of estimated useful lives and the

described above will be sufficient to satisfy our normal liquidity
allocation of the purchase price to the intangible assets requires

needs through at least the end of 2009 Additionally we believe that significant judgment and affects the amount of future amortization

funds generated from future operations will be sufficient to satisfy
and possible impairment charges

our normal liquidity needs including the required annual principal
In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting

payments on our long-term debt Standards SFAS No 141 Business Combinations all of our

Historically much of our cash has been used for acquisitions If
business combinations initiated after June 30 2001 have been

additional acquisition opportunities should become available that accounted for using the purchase method In connection with these

exceed our current cash flow we believe that given our relatively acquisitions we record the estimated value of the net tangible

low debt-to-total-capitalization ratio we would have the ability to assets purchased and the value of the identifiable intangible assets

purchased which typically consist of purchased customer accounts
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and non-compete agreements Purchased customer accounts charge We completed our most recent evaluation of impairment for

include the physical records and files obtained from acquired goodwill as of November 30 2008 and identified no impairment as

businesses that contain information about insurance policies resuit of the evaluation

customers and other matters essential to policy renewals However
NON-CASH STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

they primarily represent the present value of the underlying cash

The Company grants stock options and non-vested stockflows expected to be received over the estimated future renewal

awards previously referred to as restricted stock to its employeesperiods of the insurance policies comprising those purchased
Effective January 2006 the Company adopted the provisions ofcustomer accounts The valuation of purchased customer accounts

SFAS No 23R Share-Based Payment SFAS 23R for its stock-involves significant estimates and assumptions concerning matters

based compensation plans Among other things SFAS 23R requiressuch as cancellation frequency expenses and discount rates Any
that compensation expense for all share-based awards be

change in these assumptions could affect the carrying value of

purchased customer accounts Non-compete agreements are valued recognized in the financial statements based upon the grant-date

fair value of those awardsbased on their duration and any unique features of particular

agreements Purchased customer accounts and non-compete LITIGATION CLAIMS

agreements are amortized on straight-line basis over the related
We are subject to numerous litigation claims that arise in the

estimated lives and contract periods which range from five to 15
ordinary course of business In accordance with SFAS No

years The excess of the purchase price of an acquisition over the fair

Accounting for Contingencies if it is probable that an asset has
value of the identifiable tangible and intangible assets is assigned to

been impaired or liability has been incurred at the date of the

goodwill and is no longer amortized in accordance with SFAS
financial statements and the amount of the loss is estimable an

No 142 Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets SFAS No 142
accrual for the costs to resolve these claims is recorded in accrued

INTANGIBLE ASSETS IMPAIRMENT expenses in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets

Professional fees related to these claims are included in other
Effective January 2002 we adopted SFAS No 142 which

requires that goodwill be subject to at least an annual assessment
operating expenses in the accompanying Consolidated Statements

of Income Management with the assistance of in-house and
for impairment by applying fair-value-based test Amortizable

outside counsel determines whether it is probable that
liabilityintangible assets are amortized over their useful lives and are

has been incurred and estimates the amount of loss based uponsubject to an impairment review based on an estimate of the

analysis of individual issues New developments or changes inundiscounted future cash flows resulting from the use of the asset

settlement strategy in dealing with these matters may significantlySFAS No 142 requires us to compare the fair value of each reporting

affect the required reserves and affect our net incomeunit with its carrying value to determine if there is potential

impairment of goodwill If the fair value of the reporting unit is less DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS

than its carrying value an impairment loss would be recorded to the
In 2002 we entered into one derivative financial instrument

extent that the fair value of the goodwill within the reporting unit is

an interest rate exchange agreement or swap to manage the
less than its carrying value Fair value is estimated based on

exposure to fluctuations in interest rates on our $90 million variable

multiples of revenues earnings before interest income taxes
rate debt As of December31 2006 we maintained this swap

depreciation and amortization EBITDA and the related

agreement whereby we paid fixed rate on the notional amount to

discounted cash flows
bank and the bank paid us variable rate on the notional amount

Management assesses the recoverability of our goodwill on an
equal to base London InterBank Offering Rate LIBOR We

annual basis and assesses the recoverability of our amortizable
assessed this derivative as highly effective cash flow hedge and

intangibles and other long-lived assets whenever events or changes
accordingly changes in the fair market value of the swap were

in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of such assets may
reflected in other comprehensive income The fair market value of

not be recoverable The following factors if present may trigger an
this instrument was determined by quotes obtained from the

impairment review significant underperformance relative to
related counter-parties in combination with valuation model

historical or projected future operating results ii significant
utilizing discounted cash flows The valuation of this derivative

negative industry or economic trends iii significant decline in our
instrument was significant estimate that was largely affected by

stock price for sustained period and iv significant decline in our
changes in interest rates As of December31 2007 this interest rate

market capitalization If the recoverability of these assets is unlikely
swap agreement expired in conjunction with the final payment on

because of the existence of one or more of the above-referenced
the related $90 million variable rate debt

factors an impairment analysis is performed Management must

make assumptions regarding estimated future cash flows and other NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

factors to determine the fair value of these assets If these estimates See Note of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

or related assumptions change in the future we may be required to for discussion of the effects of the adoption of new accounting

revise the assessment and if appropriate record an impairment standards
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Consolidated Statements of Income

Year Ended December 31

in thousands except per share data Isi 2007 2006

REVENUES

Commissions and fees $965983 $914650 $864663

Investment income 6079 30494 11479

Other income net 5492 14523 1862

Total revenues 977554 959667 878004

EXPENSES

Employee compensation and benefits 485783 444101 404891

Non-cash stock-based compensation 7314 5667 5416

Other operating expenses
137352 131371 126492

Amortization 46631 40436 36498

Depreciation 13286 12763 11309

Interest 14690 13802 13357

Total expenses
705056 648140 597963

Income before income taxes 272498 311527 280041

Incometaxes 106374 120568 107691

Netincome $166124 $190959 $172350

Net income per share

Basic 1.18 1.36 1.23

Diluted 1.17 1.35 1.22

Weighted average number of shares outstanding

Basic 140992 140476 139634

Diluted 141558 141257 141020

Dividends declared per share 0.285 0.25 0.21

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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Consolidated Balance Sheets

At December31

in thousands except per share data 2007

ASSETS

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 78557 38234

Restricted cash and investments 144750 254404

Short-term investments 7511 2892

Premiums commissions and fees receivable 244515 240680

Deferred income taxes 14171 17208

Other current assets 33528 33964

Total current assets 523032 587382

Fixed assets net 63520 62327

Goodwill 1023372 846433

Amortizable intangible assets net 495627 443224

Other assets 14029 21293

Total assets $2119580 $1960659

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY

Current Liabilities

Premiums payable to insurance companies 357707 394034

Premium deposits and credits due customers 43577 41211

Accounts payable 18872 18760

Accrued expenses 96325 90599

Current portion of long-term debt 6162 11519

Total current liabilities 522643 556123

Long-term debt 253616 227707

Deferred income taxes net 90143 65736

Other liabilities 11437 13635

Commitments and contingencies Note 13

Shareholders Equity

Common stock par value $0.10 per share authorized 280000 shares issued and outstanding 141544 at 2008

and 140673at2007 14154 14067

Additional paid-in capital 250167 231888

Retained earnings 977407 851490

Accumulated other comprehensive income net of related income tax effect of $8 at 2008 and $8 at 2007 13 13

Total shareholders equity 1241741 1097458

Total liabilities and shareholders equity $2119580 $1960659

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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Consolidated Statements of Shareholders Equity

Common Stock
Accumulated

Additional Other

Shares Par Paid-In Retained Comprehensive

in thousands except per share data Outstanding Value Capital Earnings Income Total

Balance atianuary 12006 139383 $13938 193313 552647 $4446 764344

Netincome 172350 172350

Net unrealized holding gain on available-for-sale securities 4697 4697

Net gain on cash-flow hedging derivative

Comprehensive income 177048

Common stock issued for employee stock benefit plans 624 62 16372 16434

Income tax benefit from exercise of stock options 604 604

Common stock issued to directors 254 256

Cash dividends paid $0.21 per share 29341 29341

Balance at December31 2006 140016 14002 210543 695656 9144 929345

Net income 190959 190959

Net unrealized holding gain on available-for-sale securities less

amounts realized from sales in the current year 9093 9093

Net loss on cash-flow hedging derivative 38 38

Comprehensive income 181828

Common stock issued for employee stock benefit plans 647 64 16495 16559

Income tax benefit from exercise of stock options 4564 4564

Common stock issued to directors 10 286 287

Cash dividends paid $0.25 per share 35125 35125

Balance at December 31 2007 140673 14067 231888 851490 13 1097458

Net income and comprehensive income 166124 166124

Common stock issued for employee stock benefit plans 856 86 17823 17909

Income tax benefit from exercise of stock options 138 138

Common stock issued to directors 15 318 319

Cash dividends paid $0285 per share 40207 40207

BalanceatDecember3l2008 141544 $14154 $250167 $977407 13 $1241741

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Year Ended December 31

in thousands ZiI.1 2007 2006

Cash flows from operating activities

Net income 166124 $190959 $172350

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities

Amortization 46631 40436 36498

Depreciation 3286 12763 11309

Non-cash stock-based compensation 7314 5667 5416

Deferred income taxes 25713 325 11480

Net gain on sales of investments fixed assets and customer accounts 1071 30944 781

Changes in operating assets and liabilities net of effect from acquisitions and divestitures

Restricted cash and investments decrease increase 109654 12217 12315

Premiums commissions and fees receivable decrease increase 3169 45059 23564

Other assets decrease increase 2359 6357 6301
Premiums payable to insurance companies decrease increase 40045 53119 27314

Premium deposits and credits due customers increase decrease 2259 6723 754

Accounts payable decrease increase 5992 533 3561

Accrued expenses increase 4099 2913 8441

Other liabilities decrease 1747 115 318

Net cash provided by operating activities 341753 215340 225214

Cash flows from investing activities

Additions to fixed assets 14115 30643 14979

Payments for businesses acquired net of cash acquired 263400 212303 143737

Proceeds from sales of fixed assets and customer accounts 4600 6713 1399

Purchases of investments 13774 2695 211
Proceeds from sales of investments 9756 21715 119

Net cash used in investing activities 276933 217213 157409

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from long-term debt 25000 25000

Payments on long-term debt 20342 29142 87432

Borrowings on revolving credit facility 2180 26320 40000

Payments on revolving credit facility 2180 26320 40000

Income tax benefit from exercise of stock options 38 4564 604

Issuances of common stock for employee stock benefit plans 10914 11320 11274

Cash dividends paid 40207 351 25 29341

Net cash used in provided by financing activities 24497 48383 79895

Net increase decrease in cash and cash equivalents 40323 50256 12090

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 38234 88490 100580

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 78557 38234 88490

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

NATURE OF OPERATIONS

Brown Brown Inc Florida corporation and its subsidiaries collectively Brown Brown or the Company is diversified insurance

agency wholesale brokerage insurance programs and services organization that markets and sells to its customers insurance products and

services primarily in the property and casualty area Brown Browns business is divided into four reportable segments the Retail Division

which provides broad range of insurance products and services to commercial public entity professional and individual customers the

Wholesale Brokerage Division which markets and sells excess and surplus commercial insurance and reinsurance primarily through

independent agents and brokers the National Programs Division which is composed of two units Professional Programs which provides

professional liability and related package products for certain professionals delivered through nationwide networks of independent agents

and Special Programs which markets targeted products and services designated for specific industries trade groups governmental entities

and market niches and the Services Division which provides insurance-related services including third-party claims administration and

comprehensive medical utilization management services in both the workers compensation and all-lines liability arenas as well as Medicare

set-aside services

PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION

The accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of Brown Brown Inc and its subsidiaries All significant

intercompany account balances and transactions have been eliminated in the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVENUE RECOGNITION

Commission revenue is recognized as of the effective date of the insurance policy or the date on which the policy premium is billed to

the customer whichever is later At that date the earnings process has been completed and Brown Brown can reliably estimate the impact

of policy cancellations for refunds and establish reserves accordingly The reserve for policy cancellations is based upon historical cancellation

experience adjusted based on known circumstances The policy cancellation reserve was $8390000 and $8339000 at December31 2008

and 2007 respectively and it is periodically evaluated and adjusted as necessary Subsequent commission adjustments are recognized upon

receipt of notification from the insurance companies Commission revenues are reported net of commissions paid to sub-brokers or

co-brokers Profit-sharing contingent commissions from insurance companies are recognized when determinable which is when such

commissions are received or when officially notified of the amount of such commissions Fee income is recognized as services are rendered

USE OF ESTIMATES

The preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States

of America GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities as

well as disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the Consolidated Financial Statements and the reported amounts of

revenues and expenses during the reporting period Actual results may differ from those estimates

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents principally consist of demand deposits with financial institutions and highly liquid investments having

maturities of three months or less when purchased

RESTRICTED CASH AND INVESTMENTS AND PREMIUMS COMMISSIONS AND FEES RECEIVABLE

In its capacity as an insurance agent or broker Brown Brown typically collects premiums from insureds and after deducting its

authorized commissions remits the net premiums to the appropriate insurance company or companies Accordingly as reported in the

Consolidated Balance Sheets premiums are receivable from insureds Unremitted net insurance premiums are held in fiduciary capacity

until disbursed by Brown Brown Brown Brown invests these unremitted funds only in cash money market accounts tax-free variable-rate

demand bonds and commercial paper held for short term In certain states in which Brown Brown operates the use and investment

alternatives for these funds are regulated and restricted by various state laws and agencies These restricted funds are reported as restricted

cash on the Consolidated Balance Sheets The interest income earned on these unremitted funds is reported as investment income in the

Consolidated Statements of Income

In other circumstances the insurance companies collect the premiums directly from the insureds and remit the applicable commissions

to Brown Brown Accordingly as reported in the Consolidated Balance Sheets commissions are receivable from insurance companies

Fees are primarily receivables due from customers
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

INVESTMENTS

Marketable equity securities held by Brown Brown have been classified as available-for-sale and are reported at estimated fair value

with the accumulated other comprehensive income unrealized gains and losses net of related income tax effect reported as separate

component of shareholders equity Realized gains and losses and declines in value below cost that are judged to be other-than-temporary on

available-for-sale securities are reflected in investment income The cost of securities sold is based on the specific identification method

Interest and dividends on securities classified as available-for-sale are included in investment income in the Consolidated Statements of

Income

Non-marketable equity securities and certificates of deposit having maturities of more than three months when purchased are reported

at cost and are adjusted for other-than-temporary market value declines

Net unrealized holding gains on available-for-sale securities included in accumulated other comprehensive income reported in

shareholders equity were $13000 at December 31 2008 and 2007 net of deferred income taxes of $8000 in each year respectively

FIXED ASSETS

Fixed assets including leasehold improvements are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization Expenditures for

improvements are capitalized and expenditures for maintenance and repairs are expensed to operations as incurred Upon sale or retirement

the cost and related accumulated depreciation and amortization are removed from the accounts and the resulting gain or loss if any is

reflected in other income Depreciation has been determined using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the related

assets which range from three to 15 years Leasehold improvements are amortized on the straight-line method over the shorter of the useful

life of the improvement or the term of the related lease

GOODWILL AND AMORTIZABLE INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The excess of the purchase price of an acquisition over the fair value of the identifiable tangible and amortizable intangible assets is

assigned to goodwill While goodwill is not amortizable it is subject to at least an annual assessment for impairment by applying fair value-

based test Amortizable intangible assets are amortized over their useful lives and are subject to an impairment review based on an estimate

of the undiscounted future cash flows resulting from the use of the asset The Company compares the fair value of each reporting unit with its

carrying amount to determine if there is potential impairment of goodwill If the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying value

an impairment loss is recorded to the extent that the fair value of the goodwill within the reporting unit is less than its carrying value Fair

value is estimated based on multiples of revenues earnings before interest income taxes depreciation and amortization EBITDA and the

related discounted cash flows Brown Brown completed its most recent annual assessment as of November 30 2008 and identified no

impairment as result of the evaluation

Amortizable intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortization and consist of purchased customer accounts and

non-compete agreements Purchased customer accounts and noncompete agreements are being amortized on straight-line basis over the

related estimated lives and contract periods which range from five to 15 years Purchased customer accounts primarily consist of records and

files that contain information about insurance policies and the related insured parties that are essential to policy renewals

The carrying value of intangibles attributable to each region comprising Brown Brown is periodically reviewed by management to

determine if the facts and circumstances suggest they may be impaired In the insurance agency and wholesale brokerage industry it is

common for agencies or customer accounts to be acquired at price determined as multiple of either their corresponding revenues or

EBITDA Accordingly Brown Brown assesses the carrying value of its intangible assets by comparison of reasonable multiple applied to

either corresponding revenues or EBITDA as well as by considering the estimated future cash flows generated by the corresponding region

Any impairment identified through this assessment may require that the carrying value of related intangible assets be adjusted however no

impairments have been recorded for the years ended December31 2008 2007 and 2006

INCOME TAXES

Brown Brown records income tax expense using the asset and liability method of accounting for deferred income taxes Under this

method deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the expected future tax consequences of temporary differences between the

financial statement carrying values and the income tax bases of Brown Browns assets and liabilities

Brown Brown files consolidated federal income tax return and has elected to file consolidated returns in certain states Deferred

income taxes are provided for in the Consolidated Financial Statements and relate principally to expenses charged to income for financial

reporting purposes in one period and deducted for income tax purposes in other periods

NET INCOME PER SHARE

Basic net income per share for given period is computed by dividing net income available to shareholders by the weighted average

number of shares outstanding for the period Basic net income per share excludes dilution Diluted net income per share reflects the potential

dilution that could occur if stock options or other contracts to issue common stock were exercised or converted to common stock
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The following table sets forth the computation of basic net income per share and diluted net income per share

Year Ended December31

in thousands except per share data 111 2007 2006

Net income $166124 $190959 $172350

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding 140992 140476 139634

Dilutive effect of stock options using the treasury stock method 566 781 1386

Weighted average number of shares outstanding 141558 141257 141020

Net income per share

Basic 1.18 1.36 1.23

Diluted 1.17 1.35 1.22

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts of Brown Browns financial assets and liabilities including cash and cash equivalents restricted cash and

investments investments premiums commissions and fees receivable premiums payable to insurance companies premium deposits and

credits due customers and accounts payable at December 31 2008 and 2007 approximate fair value because of the short-term maturity of

these instruments The carrying amount of Brown Browns long-term debt approximates fair value at December31 2008 and 2007 since the

related coupon rate approximates the current market rate

STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

The Company grants stock options and non-vested stock awards to its employees officers and directors The Company uses the

modified-prospective method to account for share-based payments pursuant to Statement of Financial Accounting Standards SFAS No 123

revised in 2004 to SFAS 123R Share-Based Payment Under the modified-prospective method compensation cost is recognized based on

the requirements of SFAS 123R for all share-based payments granted on or after January 2006 and for all awards granted to employees

prior to January 2006 that remain unvested on that date The Company uses the alternative transition method of Financial Accounting

Standards Board FASB Staff Position SFAS 23R-3 to determine the accounting of the income tax effects of payments made related to

stock-based compensation

The Company uses the Black-Scholes valuation model for valuing all stock options and shares purchased under the Employee Stock

Purchase Plan the ESPP Compensation for non-vested stock awards is measured at fair value on the grant-date based upon the number of

shares expected to vest Compensation cost for all awards is recognized in earnings net of estimated forfeitures on straight-line basis over

the requisite service period

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

Fair Value Measurements In September 2006 the FASB issued SFAS No 157 Fair Value Measurements SFAS 157 SFAS 157

establishes framework for the measurement of assets and liabilities that uses fair value and expands disclosures about fair value

measurements SFAS 157 applies whenever another GAAP standard requires or permits assets or liabilities to be measured at fair value but

does not expand the use of fair value to any new circumstances SFAS 157 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning

after November 15 2007 and for all interim periods within those fiscal years The adoption of SFAS 157 did not have any impact on the

amounts reported on the Companys consolidated financial statements

In February 2007 the FASB issued SFAS No 159 The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities Including an

Amendment of FASB Statement No 115 SFAS 159 SFAS 159 permits entities to choose to measure many financial assets and financial

liabilities at fair value Unrealized gains and losses on items for which the fair value option has been elected are reported in earnings SFAS 159

is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15 2007 The Company elected not to report any financial assets or liabilities at fair value

under SFAS 159 during 2008

Business Combinations In December 2007 the FASB issued SFAS No 141R Business Combinations SFAS 141 SFAS 141 requires

an acquirer to recognize 100% of the fair values of acquired assets including goodwill and assumed liabilities with only limited exceptions

upon initially obtaining control of an acquired entity even if the acquirer has not acquired 100% of its target Additionally the fair value of

contingent consideration arrangements such as earn-out purchase arrangements at the acquisition date must be included in the purchase

price consideration Transaction costs are expensed as incurred SFAS 141 also modifies the recognition of pre-acquisition contingencies

such as environmental or legal issues restructuring plans and acquired research and development value in purchase accounting SFAS 141

amends SFAS No 109 Accounting for Income Taxes to require the acquirer to recognize changes in the amount of its deferred tax benefits

that are recognizable because of business combination either in income from continuing operations in the period of the combination or
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directly in contributed capital depending on the circumstances SFAS 141 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15 2008

Adoption is prospective and early adoption is not permitted The Company expects to adopt SFAS 141R on January 12009 and it will be

applied prospectively to any business acquisitions after that date

In April 2008 the FASB issues FSP No FAS 142-3 Determination of the Useful Life of Intangible Assets FSP 142-3 FSP 142-3 amends

the factors that should be considered in developing renewal or extension assumptions used to determine the useful life of recognized

intangible asset under SFAS 142 This pronouncement requires enhanced disclosures concerning companys treatment of costs incurred to

renew or extend the term of recognized intangible asset FSP 142-3 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after

December 15 2008 We are currently evaluating the impact of FSP 142-3 but do not expect the adoption to have material impact on our

consolidated financial statements

In November 2008 the FASB ratified EITF Issue No 08-7 Accounting for Defensive Intangible Assets EITF 08-7 EITF 08-7 applies to

defensive intangible assets which are acquired intangible assets that the acquirer does not intend to actively use but intends to hold to

prevent its competitors from obtaining access to them As these assets are separately identifiable EITF 08-7 requires an acquiring entity to

account for defensive intangible assets as separate unit of accounting which should be amortized to expense over the period the asset

diminished in value Defensive intangible assets must be recognized at fair value in accordance with SFAS 141 Rand SFAS 157 EITF 08-7 is

effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15 2008 We do not expect EITF 08-7 to have material

impact on our consolidated financial statements when effective

Internationa/Accounting Standards International Financial Reporting Standards IFRS are set of standards and interpretations

adopted by the International Accounting Standards board The SEC is currently considering potential IFRS adoption process in the U.S

which could in the near term provide domestic issuers with an alternative accounting method and ultimately could replace U.S GAAP

reporting requirements with IFRS reporting requirements We are currently investigating the implications should we be required to adopt IFRS

in the future

Business Combinations

ACQUISITIONS IN 2008

During 2008 Brown Brown acquired the assets and assumed certain liabilities of 43 insurance intermediaries the stock of two

insurance intermediaries and several books of business customer accounts The aggregate purchase price of these acquisitions was

$278749000 including $255803000 of net cash payments the issuance of $8304000 in notes payable and the assumption of $14642000 of

liabilities These acquisitions were acquired primarily to expand Brown Browns core businesses and to attract and hire high-quality

individuals Acquisition purchase prices are typically based on multiple of average annual operating profits earned over one- to three-year

period within minimum and maximum price range The initial asset allocation of an acquisition is based on the minimum purchase price

and any subsequent contingent consideration earn-out payment is allocated to goodwill Acquisitions are initially
recorded at preliminary

fair values Subsequently the Company completes the final fair value allocations and any adjustments to assets or liabilities acquired are

recorded in the current period

These acquisitions have been accounted for as business combinations and are as follows

in thousands 2008 Net Recorded

Business Date of cash Notes Purchase

Name Segment Acquisition Paid Payable Price

LDP Consulting Group Inc Retail January24 39241 39241

Powers Effler Insurance Brokers Retail April 25036 25036

HBA Insurance Group Inc Retail June 48306 2000 50306

Fullerton Company Inc Retail August 7552 17552

Other Various Various 125668 6304 131972

Total $255803 $8304 $264107
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The following table summarizes the estimated fair values of the aggregate assets and liabilities acquired as of the date of each

acquisition

in thousands LDP Powers HBA Fullerton Other Total

Fiduciarycash 173 1541 1714

Othercurrentassets 1121 75 1439 1813 3113 7561

Fixed assets 19 353 652 141 686 1851

Goodwill 25958 19071 32507 14666 72742 164944

Purchased customer accounts 17124 5701 15931 5105 57076 100937

Non-compete agreements 55 11 141 80 787 1074

Other assets 11 32 609 16 668

Total assets acquired 44461 25211 50702 23955 134420 278749

Other current liabilities 5220 175 396 4672 2448 12911

Deferred income taxes 1731 1731

Total liabilities assumed 5220 175 396 6403 2448 14642

Netassetsacquired $39241 $25036 $50306 $17552 $131972 $264107

The weighted average useful lives for the above acquired amortizable intangible assets are as follows purchased customer accounts are

15.0 years and noncompete agreements are 5.0 years

Goodwill of $164944000 of which $150705000 is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes was assigned to the Retail

Wholesale Brokerage National Programs and Services Divisions in the amounts of $161084000 $3540000 $320000 and zero respectively

The results of operations for the acquisitions completed during 2008 have been combined with those of the Company since their

respective acquisition dates If the acquisitions had occurred as of the beginning of each period the Companys results of operations would

be as shown in the following table These unaudited pro forma results are not necessarily indicative of the actual results of operations that

would have occurred had the acquisitions actually been made at the beginning of the respective periods

For the Year Ended

December31

in thousands except per share data 2007

UNAUDITED

Total revenues $1030995 $1080928

Income before income taxes 290542 351952

Netincome 177124 215740

Net income per share

Basic 1.26 1.54

Diluted 1.25 1.53

Weighted average number of shares outstanding

Basic 140992 140476

Diluted 141558 141257

Additional contingent consideration paid to sellers as result of purchase price earn-out provisions are recorded as adjustments to

intangible assets when the contingencies are settled The net additional consideration paid by the Company in 2008 as result of these

adjustments totaled $15748000 of which $15667000 was allocated to goodwill $30000 to non-compete agreements and $51000 to net

liabilities that were forgiven Of the $15748000 net additional consideration paid $9310000 was paid in cash and $6438000 was issued in

notes payable As of December 312008 the maximumfuture contingency payments related to acquisitions totaled $21 1919000
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ACQUISITIONS IN 2007

During 2007 Brown Brown acquired the assets and assumed certain liabilities of 38 insurance intermediaries the stock of three

insurance intermediaries and several books of business customer accounts The aggregate purchase price of these acquisitions was

$241437000 including $207934000 of net cash payments the issuance of $1 3001000 in notes payable and the assumption of $20502000

of liabilities Substantially all of these acquisitions were acquired primarily to expand Brown Browns core businesses and to attract and

obtain the services of quality individuals Acquisition purchase prices are typically based on multiple of average annual operating profits

earned over one- to three-year period within minimum and maximum price range The initial asset allocation of an acquisition is based on

the minimum purchase price and any subsequent earn-out payment is allocated to intangible assets Acquisitions are initially recorded at

preliminary fair values Subsequently the Company completes the final fair value allocations and any adjustments to assets or liabilities

acquired are recorded in the current period

These acquisitions have been accounted for as business combinations and are as follows

in thousands 2007 Net Recorded

Business Date of Cash Notes Purchase

Name Segment Acquisition Paid Payable Price

ALCOS Inc Retail March 30916 3563 34479

Grinspec Inc Retail April 31952 31952

Sobel Affilates Inc Retail April 33057 33057

The Combined Group Inc eta Wholesale Brokerage August 24059 24059

Evergreen Re Incorporated Wholesale Brokerage December 11021 2000 13021

Other Various Various 76929 7438 84367

Total $207934 $13001 $220935

The following table summarizes the estimated fair values of the aggregate assets and liabilities acquired as of the date of each

acquisition

in thousands ALCOS Grinspec Sobel Combined Evergreen Other Total

Fiduciarycash 627 2686 716 4029

Othercurrentassets 1224 669 286 1310 3489

Fixed assets 720 50 212 40 649 1671

Goodwill 26873 19248 19663 12730 8456 56336 143306

Purchased customer accounts 10046 12498 13129 11051 4494 36882 88100

Non-competeagreements 130 31 66 31 459 717

Otherassets 115 10 125

Total assets acquired 39735 32415 33159 26745 13021 96362 241437

Othercurrent liabilities 2173 463 102 1383 11246 15367

Deferred income taxes 3083 749 3832

Otherliabilities 1303 1303

Total liabilities assumed 5256 463 102 2686 11995 20502

Net assets acquired $34479 $31952 $33057 $24059 $13021 84367 $220935

The weighted average useful lives for the above acquired amortizable intangible assets are as follows purchased customer accounts are

15.0 years and noncompete agreements are 4.8 years

Goodwill of $143306000 of which $113462000 is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes was assigned to the Retail

Wholesale Brokerage National Programs and Service Divisions in the amounts of $116566000 $25810000 $483000 and $447000

respectively
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The results of operations for the acquisitions completed during 2007 have been combined with those of the Company since their

respective acquisitions dates If the acquisitions had occurred as of January the Companys results of operations would be as shown in the

following table These unaudited pro-forma results are not necessarily indicative of the actual results of operations that would have occurred

had the acquisitions actually been made at the beginning of the respective periods

Year Ended December31

in thousands except per share data 2007 2006

AU DITE

Total revenues $1017711 $991673

Income before income taxes 330525 $315223

Net income 202605 $194001

Net income per share

Basic 1.44 1.39

Diluted 1.43 1.38

Weighted average number of shares outstanding

Basic 140476 139634

Diluted 141257 141020

Additional consideration paid to sellers as result of purchase price earn-out provisions are recorded as adjustments to intangible assets

when the contingencies are settled The net additional consideration paid by the Company in 2007 as result of these adjustments totaled

$18995000 of which $18947000 was allocated to goodwill and $48000 to non-compete agreements Of the $18995000 net additional

consideration paid $8397000 was paid in cash $10896000 was issued in notes payable and $298000 of net liabilities was forgiven As of

December 31 2007 the maximum future contingency payments related to acquisitions totaled $226206000

Goodwill

The changes in goodwill for the years ended December 31 are as follows

Wholesale National

in thousands Retail Brokerage Programs Service Total

Balance as of January 12007 329504 209865 $142329 2823 684521

Goodwill of acquired businesses 124322 32865 4619 447 162253

Goodwill disposed of relating to sales of businesses 341 341

Balance as of December 312007 453485 242730 $146948 3270 846433

Goodwill of acquired businesses 170722 3539 350 6000 180611

Goodwill disposed of relating to sales of businesses 3619 53 3672

Balance as of December 312008 $620588 $246216 $147298 $9270 $1023372

Amortizable Intangible Assets

Amortizable intangible assets at December 31 consisted of the following

2008 2007

Gross Net Weighted

Carrying Accumulated Carrying Average Life

in thousands 1lI fWTH.l1 Value Amortization Value years

Purchased customer accounts $724953 $231748 $493205 14.9 $628123 $187543 $440580 14.9

Non-compete agreements 24455 22033 2422 7.3 25858 23214 2644 7.7

Total $749408 $253781 $495627 $653981 $210757 $443224
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Amortization expense recorded for other amortizable intangible assets for the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 was

$46631000 $40436000 and $36498000 respectively

Amortization expense for other amortizable intangible assets for the years ending December 31 2009 2010 2011 2012 and 2013 is

estimated to be $48739000 $48053000 $46627000 $46011000 and $45110000 respectively

Investments

Investments at December31 consisted of the following

2008 2007

Carrying Value Carrying Value

Non
in thousands Trj7i1 Current Current

Available-for-sale marketable equity securities 46 46

Non-marketable equity securities and certificates of deposit 7465 287 2846 355

Total investments $7511 $287 $2892 $355

The following table summarizes available-for-sale securities at December 31

Gross Gross

Unrealized Unrealized Estimated

in thousands Cost Gains Losses Fair Value

Marketable equity securities

2008 $25 $21 $46

2007 $25 $21 $46

The following table summarizes the proceeds and realized gains/losses on non-marketable equity securities and certificates of deposit

for the years ended December31

Gross Gross

Realized Realized

in thousands Proceeds Gains Losses

2008 9652 542

2007 $21715 $18733 $780

2006 119 25

As of December31 2006 our largest security investment was 559970 common stock shares of Rock-Tenn Company New York Stock

Exchange-listed Company which we owned for more than 25 years Our investment in Rock-Tenn Company accounted for 81% of the total

value of our available-for-sale marketable equity securities non-marketable equity securities and certificates of deposit as of December31

2006 In late January 2007 the Board of Directors authorized the sale of half of our investment in Rock-Tenn Company and subsequently

authorized the sale of the balance of the shares As result we realized gain in excess of our original cost basis of $18664000 in 2007 As of

June 30 2007 we no longer owned any shares of Rock-Tenri Company
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i.iiFixed Assets

Fixed assets at December31 consisted of the following

in thousands sII 2007

Furniture fixtures and equipment $119998 $112413

Leasehold improvements 14871 12393

Land buildings and improvements
400 491

Total cost 135269 125297

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization 71749 62970

Total 63520 62327

Depreciation and amortization expense amounted to $13286000 in 2008 $12763000 in 2007 and $11309000 in 2006

Accrued Expenses

Accrued expenses at December 31 consisted of the following

in thousands L1118 2007

Accrued bonuses $41396 $41182

Accrued compensation and benefits 24349 19702

Accrued rent and vendor expenses 9211 8302

Reserve for policy cancellations 8390 8339

Accrued interest 4784 4488

Other 8195 8586

Total $96325 $90599

UI.l1U Long-Term Debt

Long-term debt at December31 consisted of the following

in thousands sI.1 2007

Unsecured Senior Notes $250000 $225000

Acquisition notes payable 9665 14025

Revolving credit facility

Other notes payable 113 201

Total debt 259778 239226

Less current portion 6162 11519

Long-term debt $253616 $227707

In July 2004 the Company completed private placement of $200.0 million of unsecured senior notes the Notes The $200.0 million is

divided into two series Series which closed on September 15 2004 for $100.0 million due in 2011 and bearing interest at 5.57% per

year and Series which closed on July 15 2004 for $100.0 million due in 2014 and bearing interest at 6.08% per year The closing on the

Series Notes occurred on July 15 2004 The closing on the Series Notes occurred on September 15 2004 Brown Brown has used the

proceeds from the Notes for general corporate purposes including acquisitions and repayment of existing debt As of December 31 2008 and

2007 there was an outstanding balance of $200.0 million on the Notes
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On December 22 2006 the Company entered into Master Shelf and Note Purchase Agreement the Master Agreement with

national insurance company the Purchaser The Purchaser also purchased Notes issued by the Company in 2004 The Master Agreement

provides for $200.0 million private uncommitted shelf
facility

for the issuance of senior unsecured notes over three-year period with

interest rates that may be fixed or floating and with such maturity dates not to exceed 10 years as the parties may determine The Master

Agreement includes various covenants limitations and events of default similar to the Notes issued in 2004 The initial issuance of notes under

the Master Agreement occurred on December 22 2006 through the issuance of $25.0 million in Series Senior Notes due December 22 2016

with fixed interest rate of 5.66% per year On February 2008 $25.0 million in Series Senior Notes due January 15 2015 with fixed

interest rate of 5.37% per year were issued As of December31 2008 there was an outstanding balance of $50.0 million under the Master

Agreement

On June 12 2008 the Company entered into an Amended and Restated Revolving Loan Agreement the Loan Agreement with

national banking institution that was dated as of June 32008 amending and restating the existing Revolving Loan Agreement dated

September 29 2003 as amended the Revolving Agreement in order to increase the lending commitment to $50.0 million subject to

potential increases up to $100.0 million and to extend the maturity date from December 20 2011 to June 2013 The Revolving Agreement

initially provided for revolving credit facility in the maximum principal amount of $75.0 millionAfter series of amendments that provided

covenant exceptions for the notes issued or to be issued under the Master Agreement and relaxed or deleted certain other covenants the

maximum principal amount was reduced to $20.0 million The calculation of interest and fees is generally based on the Companys quarterly

ratio of funded debt to earnings before interest taxes depreciation amortization and non-cash stock-based compensation Interest is

charged at rate equal to 0.50% to 1.00% above the London Interbank Offering Rate LIBOR or 1.00% below the base rate each as more

fully defined in the Loan Agreement Fees include an upfront fee an availability fee of 0.10% to 0.20% and letter of credit usage fee of 0.50%

to 1.00% The Loan Agreement contains various covenants limitations and events of default customary for similar facilities for similar

borrowers The 90-day LIBOR was 1.425% and 4.70% as of December 31 2008 and 2007 respectively There were no borrowings against this

facility at December 31 2008 or 2007

In January 2001 Brown Brown entered into $90.0 million unsecured seven-year term agreement with national banking institution

the Term Agreement bearing an interest rate based upon the 30- 60- or 90-day LIBOR plus 0.50% to 1.00% depending upon Brown

Browns quarterly ratio of funded debt to earnings before interest taxes depreciation amortization and non-cash stock-based compensation

The 90-day LIBOR was 4.70% as of December31 2007 This loan was fully funded on January 2001 and was to be repaid in equal quarterly

installments of $3200000 through December 2007 As of December 312007 the outstanding balance had been paid in full

All four of these credit agreements require or required Brown Brown to maintain certain financial ratios and comply with certain other

covenants Brown Brown was in compliance with all such covenants as of December31 2008 and 2007

To hedge the risk of increasing interest rates from January 22002 through the remaining six years of the Term Agreement Brown

Brown entered into an interest rate swap agreement that effectively converted the floating rate LIBOR-based interest payments to fixed

interest rate payments at 4.53% This agreement did not affect the required 0.50% to 1.00% credit risk spread portion of the term loan In

accordance with SFAS No 133 as amended the fair value of the interest rate swap of approximately $37000 net of related income taxes of

approximately $22000 was recorded in other assets as of December31 2006 with the related change in fair value reflected as other

comprehensive income Brown Brown has designated and assessed the derivative as highly effective cash flow hedge As of December31

2007 the interest rate swap agreement expired in conjunction with the final payment on the Term Agreement

Acquisition notes payable represent debt incurred to former owners of certain insurance operations acquired by Brown Brown These

notes and future contingent payments are payable in monthly quarterly and annual installments through April 2011 including interest in the

range from 0.0% to 6.0%

Interest paid in 2008 2007 and 2006 was $14394000 $13838000 and $14136000 respectively

At December31 2008 maturities of long-term debt were $6162000 in 2009 $3407000 in 2010 $100209000 in 2011 $0 in 2012 $0 in

2013 and $150000000 in 2014 and beyond
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i.iiIncome Taxes

Significant components of the provision benefit for income taxes for the years ended December31 areas follows

in thousands L.IsI 2007 2006

Current

Federal 70634 $105534 83792

State 10056 14709 12419

Foreign
56

Total current provision 80746 120243 96211

Deferred

Federal 21508 168 9139

State 4120 493 2341

Total deferred provision 25628 325 11480

Total tax provision $106374 $120568 $107691

reconciliation of the differences between the effective tax rate and the federal statutory tax rate for the years ended December31 is as

follows

2007 2006

Federal statutory tax rate 35.0 35.0 35.0

State income taxes net of federal income tax benefit 3.4 3.2 3.4

Non-deductible employee stock purchase plan expense 0.4 0.4 0.4

Interest exempt from taxation and dividend exclusion 0.2 0.5 0.3

Other net 0.4 0.6

Effective tax rate
39.0 38.7 38.5

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for

financial reporting purposes and the corresponding amounts used for income tax reporting purposes

Significant components of Brown Browns current deferred tax assets as of December31 are as follows

in thousands 2007

Current deferred tax assets

Deferred contingent revenue $14171 $17208

Total current deferred tax assets $14171 $17208
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Significant components of Brown Browns non-current deferred tax liabilities and assets as of December31 are as follows

in thousands III 2007

Non-current deferred tax liabilities

Fixed assets 7026 3783

Net unrealized holding gain of available-for-sale securities

Prepaid insurance and pension 2466 2522

Intangible assets 96888 72943

Total non-current deferred tax liabilities 106388 79256

Non-current deferred tax assets

Deferred compensation 6980 6040

Accruals and reserves 8217 6881

Net operating loss carryforwards 1268 829

Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets 220 230

Total non-current deferred tax assets 16245 13520

Net non-current deferred tax liability 90143 $65736

Income taxes paid in 2008 2007 and 2006 were $79339000 $114380000 and $102761000 respectively

At December 31 2008 Brown Brown had net operating loss carryforwards of $379000 and $26389000 for federal and state income

tax reporting purposes respectively portions of which expire in the years 2009 through 2023 The federal carryforward is derived from

insurance operations acquired by Brown Brown in 2001 The state carryforward is derived from the operating results of certain subsidiaries

We adopted the provision of Financial Standards Accounting Board Interpretation No.48 Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes

FIN 48 an interpretation of FASB Statement No 109 on January 2007 As result of the implementation of FIN 48 we recognized no

material adjustment in the liability for unrecognized income tax benefits

reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows

in thousands iIiJ 2007

Unrecognized tax benefits balance at January $507 591

Gross increases for tax positions of prior years 197 15805

Gross decreases for tax positions of prior years

Settlements 15772

Lapse of statute of limitations 93 117

Unrecognized tax benefits balance at December31 $611 507

We recognize interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions in income tax expense As of December31 2008 and 2007 we had

approximately $140000 and $128000 of accrued interest related to uncertain tax positions respectively

Total amount of unrecognized tax benefits that would affect our effective tax rate if recognized is $611000 as of December 31 2008 and

$507000 as of December31 2007 We do not expect our unrecognized tax benefits to change significantly over the next 12 months

During 2007 the IRS concluded its audit of our 2004-2006 tax years in which it disputed our method of recognizing profit-sharing

contingent commissions for tax purposes We recognize profit-sharing contingent commissions when determinable which is when such

commissions are received however the IRS believes we should estimate those monies as of each December31 We agreed to resolve this

dispute for $1.1 million payment of interest and our agreement to accrue at each December 31 for tax purposes only known amount of

profit-sharing contingent commissions represented by the actual amount of profit-sharing contingent commissions received in the first

quarter of the related year with true-up adjustment to the actual amount received by the end of the following March 31 Since this method

for tax purposes differs from the method used for book purposes it will result in current deferred tax asset as of December31 each year with

that balance reversing by the following March 31 when the related profit-sharing contingent commissions are recognized for financial

accounting purposes

62 BROWN BROWN INC



Employee Savings Plan

Brown Brown has an Employee Savings Plan 401k under which substantially all employees with more than 30 days of service are

eligible to participate Under this plan Brown Brown makes matching contributions subject to maximum of 2.5% of each participants

salary Further Brown Brown provides for discretionary profit-sharing contribution of 1.5% of the employees salary for all eligible

employees Brown Browns contributions to the plan totaled $11061000 in 2008 $10699000 in 2007 and $7585000 in 2006

Stock-Based Compensation

PERFORMANCE STOCK PLAN

Brown Brown has adopted and the shareholders have approved performance stock plan under which up to 14400000 shares of

Brown Browns stock Performance Stock or PSP may be granted to key employees contingent on the employees future years of service

with Brown Brown and other criteria established by the Compensation Committee of Brown Browns Board of Directors Before

participants may take full title to Performance Stock two vesting conditions must be met Of the grants currently outstanding specified

portions will satisfy the first condition for vesting based on 20% incremental increases in the 20-trading-day average stock price of Brown

Browns common stock from the initial grant price specified by Brown Brown Performance Stock that has satisfied the first vesting

condition is considered awarded shares Awarded shares are included as issued and outstanding common stock shares and are included in

the calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share Dividends are paid on awarded shares and participants may exercise voting privileges

on such shares Awarded shares satisfy the second condition for vesting on the earlier of participants 15 years of continuous

employment with Brown Brown from the date shares are granted to the participants ii attainment of age 64 or iii death or disability At

December31 2008 8434944 shares had been granted under the plan at initial stock prices ranging from $1.90 to $30.55 As of December 31

20084629221 shares met the first condition for vesting and had been awarded and 612868 shares satisfied both conditions for vesting and

had been distributed to the participants

The Company uses path-depended lattice model to estimate the fair value of PSP grants on the grant-date under SFAS 23R

summary of PSP activity for the years ended December31 2008 2007 and 2006 is as follows

Weighted-

Average
Shares Not

Grant Date Granted Awarded Yet

Fair Value Shares Shares Awarded

Outstanding at January 12006 5.21 5851682 5125304 726378

Granted $18.48 262260 868 261392

Awarded $11.99 291035 291035

Vested 6.43 28696 28696

Forfeited 5.93 393728 352341 41387

Outstanding at December 312006 5.92 5691518 5036170 655348

Granted $15.74 323495 323495

Awarded

Vested 5.33 48552 48552

Forfeited 8.95 391505 300886 90619

Outstanding at December 312007 6.38 5574956 4686732 888224

Granted 9.41 2607885 2607885

Awarded 8.22 17023 17023

Vested 6.41 38004 38004

Forfeited $11.78 322761 36530 286231

Outstanding at December 31 2008 7.21 7822076 4629221 3192855

The weighted average grant-date fair value of PSP grants for years ended December31 2008 2007 and 2006 was $9.41 $15.74 and

$18.48 respectively The total fair market value of PSP grants that vested during each of the years ended December31 2008 2007 and 2006

was $685000 $1314000 and $862000 respectively
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

EMPLOYEE STOCK PURCHASE PLAN

The Company has shareholder-approved ESPP with total of 12000000 authorized shares and 3864748 available for future

subscriptions Employees of the Company who regularly work more than 20 hours per week are eligible to participate in the ESPP

Participants through payroll deductions may subscribe to purchase Company stock up to 10% of their compensation to maximum of

$25000 between August of each year to the following July 31st the Subscription Period at cost of 85% of the lower of the stock price as

of the beginning or ending of the Subscription Period

For the plan year ended July31 2008 2007 and 2006 the Company issued 672222490213 and 571601 shares of common stock in

August 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively These shares were issued at an aggregate purchase price of $10036000 or $14.93 per share in

2008 $10711000 or $21.8S per share in 2007 and $10557000 or $18.47 per share in 2006

For the five months ended December31 20082007 and 2006 of the 2009-2008 2007-2008 and 2006-2007 plan years 257643 233427
and 191140 shares of common stock from authorized but unissued shares respectively were subscribed to by participants for proceeds of

approximately $4164000 $4664000 and $4817000 respectively

INCENTIVE STOCK OPTION PLAN

On April 21 2000 Brown Brown adopted and the shareholders approved qualified incentive stock option plan that provides for the

granting of stock options to certain key employees for up to 4800000 shares of common stock The objective of this plan is to provide

additional performance incentives to grow Brown Browns pre-tax income in excess of 15% annually The options are granted at the most

recent trading days closing market price and vest over one-to-i 0-year period with potential acceleration of the vesting period to three to

six years based upon achievement of certain performance goals All of the options expire 10 years after the grant date

The Company uses the Black-Scholes option-pricing model to estimate the fair value of stock options on the grant-date under SFAS 23R
which is the same valuation technique previously used for pro forma disclosures under SFAS 123 The Company granted 1445000 option
shares during the year ended December31 2008 but did not grant any options during the years ended December31 2007 or 2006 The

weighted average fair value of the incentive stock options granted during 2008 estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes

option-pricing model was $4.92 per share The fair value of these options granted was estimated on the date of grant using the following

assumptions dividend yield of 1.41% expected volatility of 26.0% risk-free interest rate of 3.14% and an expected life of years
The risk-free interest rate is based upon the U.S Treasury yield curve on the date of grant with remaining term approximating the

expected term of the option granted The expected term of the options granted is derived from historical data grantees are divided into two

groups based upon expected exercise behavior and are considered separately for valuation purposes The expected volatility is based upon
the historical volatility of the Companys common stock over the period of time equivalent to the expected term of the options granted The

dividend yield is based upon the Companys best estimate of future dividend yield
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summary of stock option activity for the years ended December 312008 2007 and 2006 is as follows

Weighted-

Average

Remaining

Weighted- Contractual Aggregate

Shares Average Term Intrinsic Value

Stock Options
Under Option Exercise Price in years in thousands

Outstanding at January 12006 2016988 $10.83 5.9 35064

Granted

Exercised 123213 6.11

Forfeited 8000 $15.78

Expired

Outstanding at December3l2006 1885775 $11.11 4.9 32241

Granted

Exercised 632307 8.38

Forfeited

Expired

Outstanding at December 31 2007 1253468 $12.49 4.3 22679

Granted 1445000 $18.48

Exercised 223453 4.84

Forfeited

Expired

Outstanding at December 31 2008 2475015 $16.68 6.9 $22587

Ending vested and expected to vest at December31 2008 2475015 $16.68 6.9 $22587

Exercisable at December31 2008 383701 $11.22 3.0 3715

Exercisable at December 31 2007 590776 8.68 3.3 8757

Exercisable at December 31 2006 1185067 8.29 4.2 23607

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at December31 2008

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Weighted-

Average Weighted- Weighted-

Remaining Average Average

Exercise Number Contractual Life Exercise Number Exercise

Price Outstanding years Price Exercisable Price

4.84 159339 1.3 4.84 159339 4.84

$14.20 4000 2.8 14.20 4000 14.20

$15.78 854676 4.2 15.78 220362 15.78

$22.06 12000 6.0 22.06

$18.48 1445000 9.2 18.48

Totals 2475015 6.9 $16.68 383701 $11.22

The weighted average grant-date fair value of stock options granted during the years ended December31 20082007 and 2006 was

$4.92 $0.00 and $0.00 respectively The total intrinsic value of options exercised determined as of the date of exercise during the years

ended December31 2008 2007 and 2006 was $3298000 $12675000 and $2865000 respectively The total intrinsic value is calculated as

the difference between the exercise price of all underlying awards and the quoted market price of the Companys stock for all in-the-money

stock options at December31 2008 2007 and 2006

There are no option shares available for future grant under this plan since this plan expired as of December31 2008
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF NON-CASH STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION EXPENSE

The non-cash stock-based compensation expense for the years ended December31 is as follows

in thousands L111J 2007 2006

Employee Stock Purchase Plan
$2951 $3234 $3049

Performance Stock Plan
2761 2016 1874

Incentive Stock Option Plan 1602 417 493

Total $7314 $5667 $5416

SUMMARY OF UNRECOGNIZED COMPENSATION EXPENSE

As of December 31 2008 there was approximately $33.2 million of unrecognized compensation expense related to all non-vested share-

based compensation arrangements granted under the Companys stock-based compensation plans That expense is expected to be

recognized over weighted-average period of 9.8 years

Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow Information

Brown Browns significant non-cash investing and financing activities for the years ended December31 are summarized as follows

in thousands iIii 2007 2006

Unrealized holding loss gain on available-for-sale securities net of tax benefit of $0 for 2008 net of tax

benefit of $5328 for 2007 and net of tax effect of $2752 for 2006 9093 4697

Net loss gain on cash-flow hedging derivative net of tax benefit of $0 for 2008 net of tax benefit of $22

for 2007 and net of tax benefit of $0 for 2006 38
Notes payable issued or assumed for purchased customer accounts $15987 $23897 $36957

Notes received on the sale of fixed assets and customer accounts 3610 9689 2715

Commitments and Contingencies

OPERATING LEASES

Brown Brown leases facilities and certain items of office equipment under non-cancelable operating lease arrangements expiring on

various dates through 2018 The facility leases generally contain renewal options and escalation clauses based upon increases in the lessors

operating expenses and other charges Brown Brown anticipates that most of these leases will be renewed or replaced upon expiration At

December31 2008 the aggregate future minimum lease payments under all non-cancelable lease agreements were as follows

in thousands

2009
$26606

2010
22287

2011
16868

2012
11946

2013
7395

Thereafter
12619

Total minimum future lease payments $97721

Rental expense in 2008 2007 and 2006 for operating leases totaled $36032000 $33381000 and $30338000 respectively
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LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The Company is involved in numerous pending or threatened proceedings by or against Brown Brown Inc or one or more of its

subsidiaries that arise in the ordinary course of business The damages that may be claimed against the Company in these various

proceedings are in some cases substantial including in many instances claims for punitive or extraordinary damages Some of these claims

and lawsuits have been resolved others are in the process of being resolved and others are still in the investigation or discovery phase The

Company will continue to respond appropriately to these claims and lawsuits and to vigorously protect its interests

Although the ultimate outcome of such matters cannot be ascertained and liabilities in indeterminate amounts may be imposed on

Brown Brown Inc or its subsidiaries on the basis of present information availability of insurance and legal advice it is the opinion of

management that the disposition or ultimate determination of such claims will not have material adverse effect on the Companys

consolidated financial position However as one or more of the Companys insurance carriers could take the position that portions of these

claims are not covered by the Companys insurance ii to the extent that payments are made to resolve claims and lawsuits applicable

insurance policy limits are eroded and iii the claims and lawsuits relating to these matters are continuing to develop it is possible that future

results of operations or cash flows for any particular quarterly or annual period could be materially affected by unfavorable resolutions of

these matters

GOVERNMENTAL INVESTIGATIONS REGARDING COMPENSATION PRACTICES

As disclosed in prior years offices of the Company are parties to profit-sharing contingent commission agreements with certain

insurance companies including agreements providing for potential payment of revenue-sharing commissions by insurance companies based

primarily on the overall profitability of the aggregate business written with those insurance companies and/or additional factors such as

retention ratios and the overall volume of business that an office or offices place with those insurance companies Additionally to lesser

extent some offices of the Company are parties to override commission agreements with certain insurance companies which provide for

commission rates in excess of standard commission rates to be applied to specific lines of business such as group health business and which

are based primarily on the overall volume of business that such office or offices placed with those insurance companies The Company has not

chosen to discontinue receiving profit-sharing contingent commissions or override commissions

Governmental agencies such as departments of insurance and offices of attorneys general in number of states have looked or are

looking into issues related to compensation practices in the insurance industry and the Company continues to respond to written and oral

requests for information and/or subpoenas seeking information related to this topic The Company is currently in litigation commenced by

the Company against the Attorney Generals Office in Connecticut in an effort to protect the confidentiality of information sought by or

produced in response to subpoena In addition agencies in Arizona Virginia Washington and Florida have concluded their respective

investigations of subsidiaries of Brown Brown Inc based in those states

The Company cannot currently predict the impact or resolution of the various governmental inquiries or related matters and thus cannot

reasonably estimate range of possible loss which could be material or whether the resolution of these matters may harm the Companys

business and/or lead to decrease in or elimination of profit-sharing contingent commissions and override commissions which could have

material adverse impact on the Companys consolidated financial condition

Business Concentrations

significant portion of business written by Brown Brown is for customers located in California Florida Michigan New Jersey New

York Pennsylvania Texas and Washington Accordingly the occurrence of adverse economic conditions an adverse regulatory climate or

disaster in any of these states could have material adverse effect on Brown Browns business although no such conditions have been

encountered in the past

For the year ended December31 2008 approximately 5.2% of Brown Browns total revenues were derived from insurance policies

underwritten by one insurance company For the year ended December 312007 approximately 5.3% and 5.3% of Brown Browns total

revenues were derived from insurance policies underwritten by the same two separate insurance companies respectively For the year ended

December 31 2006 approximately 5.3% and 4.9% of Brown Browns total revenues were derived from insurance policies underwritten by

the same two separate insurance companies respectively Should these insurance companies seek to terminate their arrangement with

Brown Brown the Company believes that other insurance companies are available to underwrite the business although some additional

expense and loss of market share could possibly result No other insurance company accounts for 5% or more of Brown Browns total

reven ues
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Quarterly Operating Results Unaudited

Quarterly operating results for 2008 and 2007 were as follows

First Second Third Fourth

in thousands except per share data Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter

2008

Total revenues $256715 $241720 $247029 $232090

Total expenses $172131 $17S126 $17993S $177864

Income before incometaxes 84584 66594 67094 54226

Net income 51760 40398 40593 33373

Net income per share

Basic 0.37 0.29 0.29 0.24

Diluted 0.37 0.29 0.29 0.24

2007

Total revenues 258513 246644 237284 217226

Total expenses $160411 $162148 161849 $163732

Incomebeforeincometaxes 98102 84496 75435 53494

Netincome 59727 52012 46216 33004

Net income per share

Basic 0.43 0.37 0.33 0.23

Diluted 0.42 0.37 0.33 0.23

Quarterly financial information is affected by seasonal variations The timing of profit-sharing contingent commissions policy renewals

and acquisitions may cause revenues expenses and net income to vary significantly between quarters

Segment Information

Brown Browns business is divided into four reportable segments the Retail Division which provides broad range of insurance

products and services to commercial public and quasi-public entities and to professional and individual customers the Wholesale Brokerage

Division which markets and sells excess and surplus commercial and personal lines insurance and reinsurance primarily through

independent agents and brokers the National Programs Division which is comprised of two units Professional Programs which provides

professional liability and related package products for certain professionals delivered through nationwide networks of independent agents

and Special Programs which markets targeted products and services designed for specific industries trade groups public and quasi-public

entities and market niches and the Services Division which provides insurance-related services including third-party claims administration

and comprehensive medical utilization management services in both the workers compensation and all-lines liability arenas as well as

Medicare set-aside services Brown Brown conducts all of its operations within the United States of America except for one start-up

wholesale brokerage operation based in London England that commenced business in March 2008 and which has earned less than

$2.6 million of revenue as of December31 2008

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as those described in Note Brown Brown evaluates the

performance of its segments based upon revenues and income before income taxes Inter-segment revenues are eliminated
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Summarized financial information concerning Brown Browns reportable segments is shown in the following table The Other column

includes any income and expenses not allocated to reportable segments and corporate-related items including the inter-company interest

expense charge to the reporting segment

Year Ended December 31 2008

Wholesale National

in thousands Retail Brokerage Programs Services Other Total

Total revenues 590238 $170645 $178286 $32144 6241 977554

lnvestmentincome 999 1414 327 13 3326 6079

Amortization 26827 10205 9098 462 39 46631

Depreciation 6061 2892 2693 421 1219 13286

Interest expense 30287 18033 7531 751 41912 14690

Incomebeforeincometaxes 138595 17593 63287 7153 45870 272498

Total assets $1687137 $618662 $607599 $45360 $839178 $2119580

Capitalexpenditures 4152 4794 2867 301 2001 14115

Year Ended December 31 2007

Wholesale National

in thousands Retail Brokerage Programs Services Other Total

Total revenues 562438 $178942 $157548 35392 25347 959667

Investment income 260 2927 513 31 26763 30494

Amortization 21659 9237 9039 462 39 40436

Depreciation 5723 2715 2757 534 1034 12763

Interestexpense 21094 19188 9977 719 37176 13802

Income before income taxes 159304 27989 47135 8655 68444 311527

Total assets 1356772 640931 570295 41233 648572 1960659

Capital expenditures 5816 2835 1831 318 19843 30643

Year Ended December 312006

Wholesale National

in thousands Retail Brokerage Programs Services Other Total

Total revenues 517989 $163346 $157448 32606 6615 878004

Investmentincome 139 4017 432 45 6846 11479

Amortization 19305 8087 8718 343 45 36498

Depreciation 5621 2075 2387 533 693 11309

Interestexpense 18903 18759 10554 440 35299 13357

Income before income taxes 145749 26865 48560 7963 50904 280041

Total assets 1103107 618374 544272 32554 490355 1807952

Capital expenditures 5952 2085 3750 588 2604 14979

Subsequent Events

From January 2009 through February 26 2009 Brown Brown acquired the assets and assumed certain liabilities of one insurance

intermediary The aggregate purchase price of this acquisition was $23621000 which was entirely paid in cash The insurance intermediary

was acquired primarily to expand Brown Browns core retail business and to attract and obtain high-quality individuals
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of

Brown Brown Inc

Daytona Beach Florida

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Brown Brown Inc and subsidiaries the Company as of

December 31 2008 and 2007 and the related consolidated statements of income stockholders equity and cash flows for each of the three

years in the period ended December 31 2008 These financial statements are the responsibility of the Companys management Our

responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States Those

standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of

material misstatement An audit includes examining on test basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial

statements An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management as well as

evaluating the overall financial statement presentation We believe that our audits provide reasonable basis for our opinion

In our opinion such consolidated financial statements present fairly in all material respects the financial position of Brown Brown Inc

and subsidiaries at December31 2008 and 2007 and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the

period ended December 312008 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America

We have also audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States the

Companys internal control over financial reporting as of December31 2008 based on the criteria established in Internal Control Integrated

Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated March 2009 expressed

an unqualified opinion on the Companys internal control over financial reporting

O44 y2gc4
Certified Public Accountants

Jacksonville Florida

March 2009
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of

Brown Brown Inc

Daytona Beach Florida

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of Brown Brown Inc and subsidiaries the Company as of December31

2008 based on criteria established in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the

Treadway Commission As described in Managements Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting management excluded from its

assessment the internal control over financial reporting at Hunt-Smith-Peabody Insurance Agency Inc LDP Consulting Group Inc Fowler

Company Powers Effler Insurance Brokers Inc Big Sky Underwriters Inc Nathan Stone Insurance Agency Inc Debock Muth Insurance Agency

Inc Dill Joyce Thresher Incorporated HBA Insurance Group Inc Alpha Benefits Group Inc Fullerton Company Inc Burt Associates Benefit

Planning Inc Reed Brothers Insurance Group Inc Agency Associates Inc and Gallagher Associates Inc collectively the 2008 Excluded

Acquisitions which was acquired during 2008 and whose financial statements constitute 17.9% and 11.7% of net and total assets respectively

5.5% of revenues and 5.7% of net income of the consolidated financial statement amounts as of and for the year ended December31

2008 Accordingly our audit did not include the internal control over financial reporting at the 2008 Excluded Acquisitions The Companys

management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal

control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Annual Assessment Report Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the

Companys internal control over financial reporting based on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States Those

standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial

reporting was maintained in all material respects Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting

assessing the risk that material weakness exists testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on

the assessed risk and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances We believe that our audit provides

reasonable basis for our opinion

companys internal control over financial reporting is process designed by or under the supervision of the companys principal

executive and principal financial officers or persons performing similar functions and effected by the companys board of directors

management and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability

of financial reporting and the preparation of

financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles companys internal control over

financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately

and
fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company provide reasonable assurance that transactions are

recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and that

receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the

company and provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or disposition of

the companys assets that could have material effect on the financial statements

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting including the possibility of collusion or improper

management override of controls material misstatements due to error or fraud may not be prevented or detected on timely basis Also

projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of the internal control over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that

the controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may

deteriorate

In our opinion the Company maintained in all material respects effective internal control over financial reporting as of December31

2008 based on the criteria established in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of

the Treadway Commission

We have also audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States the

consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December31 2008 of the Company and our report dated March 2009

expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements

2426IL UP
Certified Public Accountants

Jacksonville Florida

March 2009
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Managements Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

The Management of Brown Brown Inc and its subsidiaries Brown Brown is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate

internal control over financial reporting as such term is defined in Securities Exchange Act Rule 3a-1 5f Under the supervision and with the

participation of management including Brown Browns principal executive officer and principal financial officer Brown Brown conducted

an evaluation of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting based on the framework in Internal Control Integrated

Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission

In conducting Brown Browns evaluation of this effectiveness of its internal control over financial reporting Brown Brown has

excluded the following acquisitions completed by Brown Brown during 2008 Hunt-Smith-Peabody Insurance Agency Inc LDP Consulting

Group Inc Fowler Company Powers Effler Insurance Brokers Inc Big Sky Underwriters Inc Nathan Stone Insurance Agency Inc

Debock Muth Insurance Agency Inc Dill Joyce Thresher Incorporated HBA Insurance Group Inc Alpha Benefits Group Inc Fullerton

Company Inc Burt Associates Benefit Planning Inc Reed Brothers Insurance Group Inc Agency Associates Inc and Gallagher Associates

Inc Collectively these acquisitions represented 17.9% and 11.7% of net and total assets as of December 312008 5.5% of total revenue and

5.7% of net income for the year ended Refer to Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion of these acquisitions

and their impact on Brown Browns Consolidated Financial Statements

Based on Brown Browns evaluation under the framework in Internal Control Integrated Framework management concluded that

internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December31 2008 Managements internal control over financial reporting as of

December 31 2008 has been audited by Deloitte Touche LLP an independent registered public accounting firm as stated in their report

which is included herein

Brown Brown Inc

Daytona Beach Florida

March 2009

Hyatt Brown Cory Walker

Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer
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Performance Graph

The following graph is comparison of five-year cumulative total stockholder returns for our common stock as compared with the

cumulative total stockholder return for the Standard Poors 500 Index and group of peer insurance broker and agency companies Aon

Corporation ArthurJ Gallagher Co Marsh McLennan Companies Inc and Willis Group Holdings Ltd. Hilb Rogal and Hobbs Company

included in our peer group last year merged into Willis in 2008 and thus is not included in this years peer group The returns of each company

have been weighted according to such companies respective stock market capitalizations as of December 31 2003 for the purposes of

arriving at peer group average The total return calculations are based upon an assumed $100 investment on December 31 2003 with all

dividends reinvested

$190.07

_____________
_____

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008

Brown Brown Inc

A- Peer Group Index

NYSE Market Index

FISCAL YEAR ENDING

COMPANY/INDEX/MARKET 12/31/2003 12/31/2004 12/31/2005 12/31/2006 12/31/2007 12/31/2008

Brown Brown Inc $100.00 $134.53 $190.07 $176.81 $148.69 $134.12

CustomerSelectedStockList $100.00 85.39 93.62 94.65 99.15 91.66

NYSE Market Index $100.00 $112.92 $122.25 $143.23 $150.88 94.76

We caution that the stock price performance shown in the graph should not be considered indicative of potential future stock price

performance

2008 ANNUAL REPORT 73



Every morningin Africa

Gazelle awakes
It knows that it must run faster

than the fastest Cheetah

or it will be killed

Every morningin Africa

Cheetah awakes

It knows that it must run faster

than the slowest Gazelle

or it will starve to death

It doesnt matter whether

youre Cheetah or Gazelle

When the sun comes up
you had better be running
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